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Corporate Profile
BJ’s Wholesale Club® introduced the warehouse club concept
to the northeastern United States in the mid-1980s. Since
then, the chain has expanded its
operations to states from Maine
to Florida, as well as the state
of Ohio. As of April 7, 2003,
BJ’s operated 140 clubs and
three cross-dock distribution
genters serving our members

than the prices found at supermarkets, supercenters,
department stores, drug stores and specialty retail opera-
tions. In 2002, excluding
sales of gasoline, food
accounted for approximately
61% of BJ's sales, with the
remainder consisting of a
wide variety of general mer-
chandise items. BJ’s is traded
on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol
“BJ”. The company was ranked 295 on Fortune Magazine’s
2002 listing of the 500 largest U.S. corporations.

Table of Contents

Summary Financial Information
Letter to Shareholders

BJ’s Operations
Form 10-K

BJ’s Management
Shareholder Information Overleaf

Follows 12
inside Back Cover

in sixteen states.

BJ’s is dedicated to providing its members with high-quality,
brand-name merchandise at prices that are significantly lower
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Financial Infermation

($ in millions, except per share a@nnunts)

Net Sales

Membership Fees & Other

Total Revenues

Operating income

{ncome from Continuing Operations
Loss from Discontinued Operations
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes
Net Income

Diluted Earnings Per Share:
Income from Continuing Operations
Discontinued Operations
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes
Net Income

Total Assets
Working Capital
Cash Flow from Operations
Capital Expenditures
Long-Term Debt & Capital Leases
Stockholders' Equity
Comparable Club Sales (%)
# of Clubs at Year End
# of Members in Thousands
Inner Circle
Business
Operating Margin (%), net sales
Current Ratio
Debt/Total Capitalization (%)

(1) Results in 2002 included a post-tax gain of $12.0 million, or $.17 per diluted share, from the reduction in the Company’s House2Home contingent lease obligations and

2002 (1) 2001 (2) 2000 1999 1998
(53 weeks)

$5,729.0 $5,105.9 $4,766.6 $4,054.5 $3,443.5

130.7 117.4 102.5 89.1 74.8

5,859.7 5,223.3 4,869.1 41436 3,518.3

219.8 2351 209.4 179.6 134.6

145.8 83.8 132.6 112.6 82.4

(14.9) (1.5) (1.1) (1.5) (0.6)

. - - - (19.3)

130.9 82.3 131.5 111.1 62.5

2.05 1.13 1.78 1.49 1.08

(0.21) (0.02) (0.01) (0.02) (0.01)

- - - - (0.25)

1.84 1.11 1.77 1.47 0.82

$1,481.0 $1.422.5 $1,234.0 $1,1311 $952.6

117.0 127.8 179.9 133.5 109.0

151.3 194.8 158.3 193.1 116.5

134.8 166.3 98.7 875 78.3

0.0 1.6 1.8 21 32.2

740.8 686.6 664.9 577.4 485.0

2.0 36 51 73 52

140 130 118 107 96

6,629 5,322 5,021 4,379 3,763

1,561 1,552 1,575 1,435 1,296

3.8 4.6 4.4 4.4 3.9

1.18 1.20 1.35 1.26 1.28

0.0 0.3 0.3 04 6.3

a post-tax loss of $12.8 million, or $.18 per diluted share, to close three clubs in November 2002,

(2) Results in 2001 included a post-tax loss of $63.0 million, or $.85 per diluted share, to establish the Company’s reserve for House2Home contingent lease obligations.

Consumer electronics has always been an

area where members canﬁnd great values on

}u'gh quality merchandise.
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LETTER

BJ’s sales and earnings results for 2002 reflect a generally weaker
economy and increased competition throughout the chain.
Comparable club sales rose 2.0% for the year compared to an
increase of 3.6% in 2001. Gasoline sales contributed approxi-

mately 0.9% to comparable club sales in 2002 versus a contribu-
tion of 0.5% in 2001.

In this year’s annual report, in addition to a discussion of operat-
ing results, we will describe our plans for stimulating sales in
regions where we have clear market leadership and for improv-
ing sales trends in our newer clubs in the Southeast. These
plans include new investments in merchandising, marketing,
technology and club appearance.

First, a review of financial and operating highlights for 2002,
which are more fully presented in the Summary Financial
Information and footnotes on Page 1.

¢ We ended the year in strong financial condition, with no
funded debt and $32.7 million in cash. We continued to
finance B]'s growth with funds generated by our operations.

¢ Operating income decreased by 6.5% to $220 million
compared to operating income of $235 million in 2001.

Operating income as a percentage of net sales was 3.8%
compared to 4.6% in 2001.

¢ Net income from contiruing operations was $145.8 million,
or $2.05 per diluted share, versus $83.8 million, or $1.13 per
diluted share, in 2001. Results for 2002 included post-tax
income of $12.0 million from a re-evaluation of our reserve
for House2Home lease liabilities, while 2001 results included
a $63.0 million post-tax expense to establish the reserve for
our estimated liabilities related to the House2Home leases.
Excluding these two items, net income from continuing
operations in 2002 was $133.8 million, or $1.88 per diluted
share, compared with $146.8 million, or $1.98 per diluted
share, in 2001.

¢ We constructed a third cross-dock distribution center to
support our expansion in the Southeast and )
enhance transportation efficiencies. This
480,000 square foot facility, located in
Jacksonville, Florida, became operational @
in April 2003. (HOLESALE CLUB

& We opened 13 clubs, entering the Atlanta market with four
new prototype clubs. Our other new clubs in 2002 included
three in New York, two in North Carolina, and one each in
Virginia, Maryland, New Jersey and New Hampshire.

TO SHAREFHOLDERS

e We added 13 gas stations and ended the year with gas stations
in nearly half of the chain. This business continued to gener-
ate club traffic, rub-off sales and new memberships throughout
the year.

e We maintained our strong membership renewal rates of 83%
for “Inner Circle®” members and 87% for business members.

s We began testing pharmacies in the four new Atlanta clubs
and in three established Massachusetts clubs.

o We invested $83.5 million to repurchase approximately 2.6
million shares of B’s stock during the year at an average cost
of $31.51, as part of a repurchase program initiated in 1998.
At the end of the year, approximately $90.5 million remained
under the current stock repurchase authorization.

 BJ’s was again capital self-sufficient for the fiscal year, generat-
ing $151 million of net cash from operating activities. This
compares to $195 million in 2001.

During the second half of 2002, BJ’s senior management team
performed a comprehensive strategic analysis of the Company’s
current position within the warehouse club industry as well as its
sales and earnings prospects for the future. On the basis of that
analysis, we affirmed our commitment to a business model based,
in part, on the following long-term objectives:

¢ Achieving annual comparable club sales growth of 3-5%,

¢ Continuing to grow selling square footage by up to 10%
annually, and

® Increasing earnings per share at a compounded annual
percentage growth rate in the range of 10%-15%.

To support these objectives, we began making new investments
in merchandising, marketing, technology and club appearance
that will continue throughout 2003.

In merchandising, we improved our competitive position by low-
ering prices in dairy and other high-volume food categories.
Having the right prices on these items helps us to take market
share from less efficient retail channels, particularly supermarkets.
We are also investing in providing better value to our members
by improving quality in our produce, bakery and other depart-
ments while holding the line on prices.

To reinforce our competitive position as the wholesale club of
choice for consumers, we increased the number of special mer-
chandise events designed to draw traffic into the clubs and add to
the “treasure hunt” aspect of wholesale club shopping. These
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included road shows for fresh seafood, oriental carpets, art work
and pianos. Additionally, this year we plan to upgrade the qual-

ty of merchandise in categories such as jewelry and apparel that
ppeal to our consumer members.

')Traditionally, BJ’s marketing programs have focused primarily on
membership acquisition. In 2002, we began to focus more of
our marketing resources on increasing sales from existing mem-
bers, a strategy that will continue throughout 2003. Through a
complete upgrade of our Customer Relationship Management
(CRM) system, we expect to more thoroughly mine the exten-
sive data we have on our members’ purchase activity to develop
targeted promotions that drive sales. Another strategy to
increase member sales in 2003 is the introduction of a premium
level membership that rewards high-volume members with a 2%
rebate worth up to $500 per year. The BJ]’s Rewards member-
ship will be available during the second quarter of 2003 for an
annual membership fee of $75.

To support our business objectives in 2002, we made a number
of technology investments, including the full migration to a new
inventory replenishment system, the installation of self checkout
lanes in 40 clubs, and a major redsign of BJ’s Web site. In 2003,
we are planning a 50% increase in technology initiatives, includ-
ing the installation of self checkout lanes in an additional 60
clubs, a new warehouse management system for our cross-dock
operations and upgrades to labor scheduling software and mem-
ber feedback programs. All are geared toward creating operating
leverage and improving our members’ shopping experience.

During the second half of 2002, we began making new invest-
ments in club layout and appearance that will continue
throughout this year. We plan to refurbish a total of 30 clubs in
2003 by upgrading club décor, relocating our expanded health
and beauty aids department to the front of the club, and
improving our presentation in a number of fresh food depart-
ments including deli, produce and bakery. We are also looking
at renovating or relocating some of our older clubs.

We believe that there is still abundant expansion opportunity in
established BJ’s markets where we achieve our highest returns.
Qur plan for at least the next two years is to confine our club
openings to these markets and to our newer markets in the
Southeast where we expect to fill in gaps to achieve the critical
mass of club locations that generates efficiencies in distribution,
advertising and management.

In summary, the key elements of BJ's mission for the future are to:

o Take share from less efficient channels of retail,

e Be the dominant wholesale club operator in our core geo-
graphic markets,

e Strengthen BJ’s niche within the industry as the “consumer
club of choice,”

¢ Reinforce our position as the lowest cost operator in all
of retail - including the wholesale club industry.

We thank BJ's team members for their strong commitment to our
Company’s success, our members for their loyalty and for the
opportunity to serve them and our shareholders for their interest
and support.

Sincerely,

y //%

Michael T. Wedge
President and Chief Executive Officer

b P

Herbert J. Zarkin
Chairman of the Board

“To support our objectives, we begon making new invest-
menis in merchandising, marketing, technology and club
appearance that will continve throughout 2003. “

-Michael Wedge
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Compared with other
wholesale club operators,
B s (ﬂér's a broader
assortment gf overall

merchandise — approxi-

mately 6,500 products
versus about 4,000

f;)r each Qf our
wholesale club

competitors.
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CONSUMER MEMBER FOCUS

Like its wholesale club competitors, BJ’s has two types of members: business operators and
retail consumer members, or as we call them, /nner Circle® members. The vast majority of our
Inner Circle members are homeowners with higher than average income for the market areas
where they live, 1 or 2 children living at home, 2 cars and multiple credit cards. For the most
part, our Business Members are owner/operators of small
businesses such as convenience stores, day-
care centers or small restaurants.

BJ’s focus on the /nner Circle mem-
ber, who in many of our clubs
accounts for as much as 90% of ==
sales, has led us to differentiate our
merchandise strategies, club operations, and
real estate strategy from our competitors.




The corporate brands we
g ﬁér under the Berkley &
Jensen” and Executive
Choicew labels are at least
a

qual, y[' not superior, in

quality. to national brands.

Merchandise Strategy

Compared with other wholesale club operators, BJ’s offers a broad-
er assortment of merchandise - approximately 6,500 active
stockkeeping units versus about 4,000 for each of our wholesale
club competitors. This wider selection appeals to the general
consumer’s preference for choice. In most of our food and con-
sumables categories, we offer smaller package sizes that are easier to carry home and store.
We also sell categories of product that are not available at other wholesale clubs, such as pre-
mium quality kitchen goods, pet accessories, greeting cards and magazines.

Because consumer members prefer to have a choice of credit cards, BJ’s offers the widest
variety of payment options. BJ’s is the only wholesale club to accept MasterCard® and VISA®
chainwide, and the only wholesale club to accept manufacturers’ coupons.

Another way that BJ’s provides value to our members is through corporate brands. The prod-
ucts we offer under the Berkley & Jensen™ and Executive Choice™ labels typically sell at
discounts of 20% below comparable branded items and are at least equal, if not superior, in
quality to national brands. In 2002, we increased our penetration of private-label items to 5%
of sales, up from 4% in 2001, ending the year with approximately 400 products.

Club Operations

Similar to our warehouse club competitors, BJ’'s offers ancillary products and services that
enable our members to consolidate errands. These include gas stations, pharmacies, optical
shops and one-hour photo services. In addition to these services, our clubs have aisle mark-
ers, express registers and self checkout lanes to help members navigate through the club more
easily and to save time. We now have self checkout lanes in 40 clubs and plan to install them in
an additional 60 clubs this year.

The cornerstone of BJ's low cost structure is its highly efficient logistics system. Approximately
70% of our merchandise is received, routed and shipped to the clubs through three cross-dock
distribution centers, generally within a 24-hour time period. This means that the goods received
at our distribution centers in the morning will be out on the sales floor the next morning. We
currently operate facilities in Franklin, Massachusetts, Burlington, New Jersey, and Jacksonville,
Florida.

j o
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Compared to our wholesale club
competitors, BJ’s has a higher densi-
ty of clubs per market. This strategy
leverages our investments in logis-
tics, store operations and marketing,
and increases visibility and name
recognition. While club clustering can
result in significant short-term canni-
balization of established BJ s clubs, it
effectively raises market share for the
marketplace as a whole. )

In the last three years, the second
year over the first year growth rate has
averaged 10%. The third year over the
second year has averaged 6%.

Average Sales Per Club* {$ millions)

Year Open 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
1992 (&Prior) 36 46.7 455 452 46.7 47.5 491 52.1 537 54.9 56.0
1993 13 29.1 30.8 34.4 36.5 38.7 429 452 46.4 46.3
1994 9 31.8 35.2 357 37.0 40.0 417 42.7 411
1995 5 322 35.0 37.6 410 43.0 4586 46.6
1996 7 272 29.9 34.0 369 38.2 390
1997 3 34.5 385 423 46.0 512
1998 7 429 493 52.1 52.6
1999 10 38.3 418 434
2000 11 29.6 308
2001 11 29.7
2002 12
Total Full-sized Clubs 124
Note : new clubs are not included in their first (partial) fiscal year
*Full-sized clubs only.
CLUB LOCATION Opening CLUB LOCATION Opering CLUB LDCATION Opening
Date Date Date
Hamiiton, NJ (Hamilton Township) Dec-02 Jensen Beach, FL Jun-99 Saratoga Springs, NY Nov-93
Middle Village, NY (Queens) Nov-02 Willimantic, CT Jan-99 S. Attleboro, MA Nov-93
Garner, NC Nov-02 Conshohocken, PA (Plymouth Mtg) Dec-98 Waldorf, MD Nov-93
Monrce, NY Oct-02 Riverdale, NJ Nov-98 Utica, NY Nov-93
Brooklyn, NY Sep-02 Torrington, CT Nov-98 Webster, NY Nov-93
Conyers, GA Aug-02 N. Canton, OH Nov-98 Framingham, MA Sep-93
W. Lebanon, NH Jun-02 College Point, NY (Queens) Oct-98 Ledgewood, NJ  (Roxbury) Jun-93
Bowie, MD Jun-02 Willoughby, OH Sep-98 Columbia, MD Jun-93
Mechanicsville, VA (Richmond) Jun-02 Middietown, RI Sep-98 Owings Mills, MD Jun-93
Cumming, GA May-02 Akron, OH Aug-98 E. Syracuse, NY Jun-93
McDonough, GA May-02 Flemington, NJ Feb-98 . Wappingers Falls, NY May-93
Woodstock, GA May-02 W. Nyack, NY Jan-98 Leominster, MA May-93
Charlotte, NC Mar-02 Greenfield, MA Sep-98 Portsmouth, NH May-93
Farmingdale, NY Jan-02 Pembroke Pines, FL Aug-98 Miami, FL  (Kendall) Nov-92
Freeport, NY Dec-01 Miami, FL  (Cutler Ridge) Jui-97 Fairfax, VA Nov-92
Witliamsville, NY (Clarence) Dec-01 North Haven, CT Jul-97 Pasadena, MD Nov-92
QOrange Park, FL Dec-01 Hauppauge, NY  (Islandia) Nov-96 Auburn, MA Nov-92
Sanford, FL Dec-01 Mays Landing, NJ Nov-96 Alexandria, VA Oct-92
Boynton Beach, FL Nov-01 W. Hartford, CT Oct-96 Springfield, PA Oct-92
Mefbourne, FL Nov-01 Batavia, NY Sep-96 Danvers, MA Sep-92
Wastminster, MD Nov-01 Lancaster, PA Jul-96 Oakhurst, NJ  (Ocean) Jul-92
Orlando, FL Oct-01 Rotterdam, NY Jul-86 Nashua, AH Jun-92
Concord, NC Sep-01 Downingtown, PA  (Exton) Jul-98 Baltimore, MD Mar-92
Orlando, FL Sep-01 Auburn, NY  (Sennett) Jul-98 Alientown, PA Dec-91
Raleigh, NC Sep-01 Tiiton, NH May-86 Edison, NJ Nov-91
Sarasota, FL Sep-01 Fairiess Hills, PA (Langhorne) Feb-96 Stoughton, MA Oct-91
Stroudsburg, PA Aug-01 Riverhead, NY Nov-25 Woodbridge, VA Oct-91
Greenville, SC Dec-00 York, PA Nov-25 Portland, ME Sep-91
Mooresville, NC Dec-00 Waterford, CT Nov-95 Fairfieid, CT Apr-91
Warrensville Heights, OH Dec-00 Yorktown Heights, NY Oct-95 Blasdell, NY (Hamburg) Nov-80
Middieburg Heights, OH QOct-00 Geneva, NY Oct-95 Virginia Beach, VA 0Oct-90
Parkland, FL Sep-00 Deptford, NJ Oct-85 Camp Hill, PA  (Harrisburg) Aug-90
Merritt island, FL. Aug-00 Stoneham, MA Jul-95 Sunrise, FL Jui-90
Franklin, MA Jul-00 Onecnta, NY Jul-95 N. Dartmouth, MA Jan-90
Hialeah Gardens, FL Jun-00 Auburn, ME Jun-95 Chicopee, MA Jul-88
Cary, NC Apr-00 Olean, NY (Allegany) Nov-94 Westboro, MA Jul-88
Coventry, R Apr-00 Massena, NY Nov-94 New Castle, DE  (Wilmington) Feb-88
Jacksonville, FL Feh-00 Waterbury, CT Nov-94 Philadelphia, PA Sep-88
Pineville, NC Jan-00 Linden, NJ Qct-94 Weymouth, MA Aug-87
Westbury, LI, NY Dec-99 Chesapeake, VA Oct-94 Salem, NH Nov-86
Paramus, NJ Dec-99 Fredericksburg, VA Jul-94 Maple Shade, NJ Oct-86
Avon, OH Nov-99 Abingdon, MD (Bel Air) Jul-94 Rochester, NY May-86
Cary, NC Oct-99 Clay, NY Jul-94 E. Rutherford, NJ Nov-85
Victor, NY QOct-39 Reading, PA Jun-94 Albany, NY Oct-85
Toms River, NJ Aug-99 Jersey City, NJ May-94 Tonawanda, NY (Buffalo) Aug-85
Royal Palm Beach, FL Jun-99 Watchung, NJ May-94 Johnston, Ri Oct-85
E. Setauket, Li, NY Jun-99 Medford, MA Sep-84




Real Estate Strategy

BJ’s sales break-even point for an average club is by far the lowest in the industry. The average
size of a BJ’s big box club is about 111,000 square feet, which is 10% -20% smaller than the
average size of our two major wholesale club competitors’ clubs. The smaller size reduces site
development and construction costs, contributing to BJ’s lower break-even potential and affords
BJ’s more options in selecting locations. Because of BJ’s focus on the retail consumer as our
primary member, our real estate strategy is based on locating our clubs in areas that are con-
venient to residential areas.

Compared to our wholesale club competitors, BJ's has a higher density of clubs per market. This
strategy leverages our investments in logistics, store operations and marketing, and increases
visibility and name recognition.

Club Development in 2002

During 2002, BJ's opened 13 new clubs, including four prototype clubs in the Atlanta market,
and 14 gas stations. We closed three underperforming clubs and one gas station in 2002: an
older club in North Dade, Florida, and two clubs in the Columbus, Ohio, market. Our decision 0
exit the Columbus market was based primarily on three factors: (1) one of the two clubs was
located in a shopping area that suffered from high lease turnover and vacancy rates; (2) we were
unable to find suitable sites to build out the market and (3) the overall market was not growing
at the rate we originally expected.

Ciub Development in 2003

BJ’s business model is based on increasing selling square footage by approximately 10% per year.
In 2003, we plan to open 12 or 13 clubs and 16 gas stations in the following locations: Hooksett,
NH; Dedham and Taunton, MA; Derby, CT; Vineland and Voorhees, NJ; Valley Stream, NY;
Philadelphia, PA; Lexington Park, MD; East Point, Newnan and Powder Springs, GA and
Kissimmee, FL. The timing of club openings is expected to be about the same as last year, at
three or four per quarter.

Our club development strategy for the next two to three years is to reinforce our stronghold in
established markets and to fill in gaps in newer markets in the Southeast. Based on our experi-
ence over the past three years, we will not enter any new markets until we are confident that our
model is differentiated enough from our competition to succeed.

All Qf B s corporate brand products are tested at inde-
pendent laboratories to ensure consistent, superior quality.
In addition to substantial savings, our Ber}zley & Jensen
products come with a 100% satisfaction guarantee.

-
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BUILDING A BETTER BJ’s

During the second half of 2002, BJ’s management team carried out a strategic review of the
Company’s competitive position and prospects for future growth and profitability. Our findings
led us to conclude that we needed to take action to protect our leadership position in established
markets and to achieve better sales results in areas where BJ’s is less well known. As a result,
we began making new investments to drive sales and long-term profitability. These investments
fall primarily into four areas: merchandising, marketing, club appearance and technology.

In 2003, we remain committed to being priced competitively on the 1,500 — 2,000 items that
overlap with other wholesale clubs. We will also continue to make significant investments in
merchandise quality to put even more distance between BJ's and its supercenter competition.
In some of our newer markets, where business members account for as little as 10% of our
sales, we will look to expand our assortment of consumer merchandise while reducing items
geared to small businesses.

We plan to make better use of our member database to develop marketing programs that
In 2003, Bfs plans to increase shopping frequency and sales per member. During the second quarter, we plan to
introduce a new level launch a premium membership program that rewards high-volume members with 2% mer-
of diamond jewelry in chandise rebates of up to $500 per year for an annual fee of $75.
selected clubs that fea-
ture expanded jewelry During the first half of 2003, we plan to refurbish 30 clubs to match the Atlanta prototype décor,
departments. bakery and fresh food presentation. We plan to add rotisserie chicken departments to 40 clubs
and deli departments to 17 clubs. We
are also examining some of our
older locations to determine
how we can either upgrade
their overall appearance or
relocate them.

Hand latticed pies
baked on-site are representative

of the quality of BJ's baked goods.
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Approximately 70% Qf BJ's merchandise is received, routed and
shipped to the clubs through three cross-dock distribution centers,
generally within a 24-hour time period.

B s members can always ﬁnd
the latest technology in computers
and related peﬁphemls n our

consumer electronics departmentst
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objectives, we have increased our technology
projects by 50% in 2003. Among these e

projects are upgrades of labor scheduling and 1+ =272

customer feedback programs, a New warg-  memsemsess e
house management System for OUr Cross . -wisimmum i ‘
dock operations and the enhancement of the I
BJ's Web site to allow for merchandise

coupon redemption.
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COMMUNITY RELATIONS

BJ’s Adopt-A-School Program.
BJ's is strongly committed to its responsibility as a corporate citizen. One of the many ways in
which the Company shares its success within its local communities is through BJ's Adopt-A-
o School program, a partnership between local BJ’s clubs and public schools
X N A = in each of its markets. Working with students, faculty, parents and
: administrators, BJ's provides fund-raising assistance, product
donations, volunteer support and awards programs. Since its inception
in 1996, the Adopt-A-School program has reached more than 600
schools and 340,000 students.

partners with parents and children
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Energy Star Award
An ENERGY STAR® partner since 1998, BJ’s has been named Energy Star Partner of the Year by The
Environmental Protection Agency for our outstanding commitment to pollution prevention
and energy performance throughout the entire BJ’s chain.

y ‘/,/,,;/,'/;/2‘;7/ BJ’s investments in energy-efficient lighting and building technologies result in an
W/M annual cost savings of approximately $5.8 million or 73 million kWh in reduced
TR A LT energy consumption. In 2002, BJ’s installed solar panels on the roofs of four BJ’s
clubs in Long Island and one in Deptford, NJ, producing pollution-free electricity.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM I1-K *

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003
OR
(] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
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Item 1. DBusiness

General

BI’s Wholesale Club introduced the warehouse club concept to New England in 1984 and has since
expanded to become a leading warehouse club operator in the eastern United States. As of February 1, 2003, BJ's
operated 140 warehouse clubs in 16 states. The table below shows the number of BJ's locations by state.

Number of

State Locations
NeW YOIk ... e 31
Flomida . ... o e 18
NEeW JerSY . vttt 15
MassaChuSetts . . .. 14
Pennsylvania . . ... o e 11
Maryland . ... .o e e 8
COMNECHICUL . o ittt ettt e e e e et e e 7
North Caroling . ........ .. i e e e e e 7
VIFZINIA © oottt et et e e e e e e e e e 7
OO L e 6
New Hampshire ... ... e 5
GeOTgIa . ot e e e 4
Rhode Island .. ... .. . e 3
MaiNE . .o e 2
Delaware . ... e 1
South Carolina ... ..ottt e 1
TOT AL . e 140

On July 28, 1997, BY’s Wholesale Club, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (“BJ’s” or the “Company”’) became
an independent, publicly owned entity when Waban Inc. (“Waban”), BI’s parent company at the time, distributed
to its stockholders on a pro rata basis all of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Before that date, BJ’s
business had operated as a division of Waban,

The fiscal year ended February 1, 2003 is referred to as “2002” or “fiscal 2002” below. Other fiscal years
are referred to in a similar manner.

Industry Overview

Warehouse clubs offer a narrow assortment of brand name food and general merchandise items within a
wide range of product categories. In order to achieve high sales volumes and rapid inventory turnover,
merchandise selections are generally limited to items that are brand name leaders in their categories. Since
warehouse clubs sell a diversified selection of product categories, they attract customers from a wide range of
other wholesale and retail distribution channels, such as supermarkets, supercenters, department stores, drug
stores, discount stores, office supply stores, consumer electronics stores, automotive stores and wholesale
distributors. BJ’s believes that it is difficult for these higher cost channels of distribution to match the low prices
offered by warehouse clubs.

Warehouse clubs eliminate many of the merchandise handling costs associated with traditional multiple-step
distribution channels by purchasing full truckloads of merchandise directly from manufacturers and by storing
merchandise on the sales floor rather than in central warehouses. By operating no-frills, self-service warehouse
facilities, warehouse clubs have fixturing and operating costs substantially below those of traditional retailers.
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Because of their higher sales volumes and rapid inventory turnover, warehouse clubs generate cash from the sale
of a large portion of their inventory before they are required to pay merchandise vendors. As a result, a greater
percentage of the inventory is financed through vendor payment terms than by working capital. Two broad
groups of customers, individual households and small businesses, have been attracted to the savings made
possible by the high sales volumes and operating efficiencies achieved by warchouse clubs. Customers at
warehouse clubs are generally limited to members who pay an annual fee.

Business Model

The Company has developed an operating model that it believes differentiates it from its warehouse club
competition. First, BJ's places added focus on the retail customer, its Inner Circle® member, through
merchandising strategies that emphasize a customer-friendly shopping experience. Second, by clustering its
clubs, BJ’s achieves the benefit of name recognition and maximizes the efficiencies of management support,
distribution and marketing activities. Finally, BJ’s seeks to establish and maintain the industry leading position in
each market where it operates. BJ’s creates an exciting shopping experience for its members with a constantly
changing mix of food and general merchandise items and carries a broader product assortment than its warehouse
club competitors. By supplementing the warehouse format with aisle markers, express check-out lanes and low-
cost video-based sales aids, BJ’s makes shopping more efficient for its members. BI’s is also the only major
warehouse club operator to accept manufacturers’ coupons, which provides added value for its members, and to
accept VISA® and MasterCard® payment cards chainwide.,

Expansion

Since the beginning of 1997, BJ’s has grown from 81 clubs to 140 clubs in operation at February 1, 2003.
Approximately 45% of BI’s clubs have been in operation for fewer than six years, and most of these are
considered to be in the early stages of maturation.

BJ’s plans to open 12 or 13 new clubs in the current year, all of which are expected to be in existing
markets. For at least the next two years, BJ’s plans to increase the square footage of the chain by approximately
10% annually.

Clubs Clubs Clubs Clubs

in Operation ~ Opened Closed  in Operation

at Beginning During  During at End
Year of Year the Year the Year of Year
1997 81 4 1 84
1908 84 12 — 96
1099 96 11 — 107
2000 ... e 107 11 — 118
2000 L e 118 12 — 130
2002 .. 130 13 3 140

In addition to the club openings shown above, BJ’s relocated one club in each of 2000 and 2001.

Store Profile

As of February 1, 2003, BJ’s operated 124 traditional size “big box” warehouse clubs that averaged
approximately 111,000 square feet and 16 smaller format warehouse clubs that averaged approximately 69,000
square feet. The smaller format clubs are designed to serve markets whose population is not sufficient to support
a full-sized warehouse club. Including space for parking, a typical full-sized BJ’s club requires nine to eleven
acres of land. The smaller version typically requires approximately eight acres. BJ’s clubs are located in both
free-standing locations and shopping centers.




Construction and site development costs for a full-sized owned BI’s club generally range from $5 million to
$7 million. Land acquisition costs for a club generally range from $3 million to $5 million but can be
significantly higher in some locations. BJ’s also invests approximately $2.7 million for fixtures and equipment
and $2 million for inventory (net of accounts payable) and incurs approximately $.8 to $.9 million for preopening
costs in a new full-sized club.

Merchandising

BJ’s services its existing members and attracts new members by providing a broad range of high quality,
brand name merchandise at prices that are consistently lower than the prices of traditional wholesalers, discount
retailers, supermarkets, supercenters and specialty retail operations. BJ’s limits the items offered in each product
line to fast selling styles, sizes and colors, carrying an average of approximately 6,500 active stockkeeping units
(SKU’s). By contrast, supermarkets normally stock from 27,000 to 52,000 SKU’s, and supercenters typically
stock up to 125,000 SKU’s. BJ’s works closely with manufacturers to develop packaging and sizes which are
best suited to selling through the warehouse club format in order to minimize handling costs and to provide
increased value to members.

Excluding gasoline, food accounted for approximately 61% of BI’s sales in 2002. The remaining 39%
consisted of a wide variety of general merchandise items. Food categories at BJ’s include frozen foods, fresh
meat and dairy products, dry grocery items, fresh produce and flowers, canned goods, and household paper
products and cleaning supplies. General merchandise includes office supplies and equipment, consumer
electronics, prerecorded media, small appliances, auto accessories, tires, jewelry, housewares, health and beauty
aids, computer software, books, greeting cards, apparel, tools, toys and seasonal items. BJ’s believes that more
than 70% of its products are items that can also be found in supermarkets.

To ensure that its merchandise selection is closely attuned to the tastes of its members, BI’s employs
regional buyers who are responsible for tailoring the product selection in individual warehouse clubs to the
regional and ethnic tastes of the local market. BJ’s is increasingly using checkout data to understand and respond
to member preferences.

BJ’s continued to expand its private label program during 2002. Products are sold under two labels:
“Executive Choice™” for products targeted to business members, and “Berkley and Jensen™” for products
targeted to BI’s Inner Circle members. BJ’s private label products are premium quality only and generally are
priced 20% lower than the top branded competing product. At the end of 2002, products sold under BJ’s private
labels had achieved a sales penetration of approximately 5% on an annualized basis. BJ’s expects its private label
products to represent an increasing percentage of total sales over time.

BJ’s is testing pharmacies in the four Atlanta clubs opened in 2002 and in three existing Massachusetts
clubs, which were retrofitted for this business. The Company plans to continue testing pharmacies in additional
clubs in 2003. In 2002, BJ’s also began offering members the ability to purchase and activate phone cards and
gift cards at the cash registers.

BJ’s also offers a number of specialty services that are designed to enable members to complete more of
their shopping at BJ’s and to encourage more frequent trips to the clubs. Most of these services are provided by
outside operators in space leased from BJ’s. Specialty services include full-service optical stores, food courts,
some of which offer brand name fast food service, communications centers for cellular phones and wireless
needs, on-site photo service, BI’s Vacations®, a selection of garden sheds, patios and sunrooms, a propane tank
filling service, and a muffler and brake service operated in conjunction with Monro Muffler/Brake and Speedy
Auto Service.

As of February 1, 2003, BJ’s had 68 gas stations in operation at its clubs. The gas stations are generally self-
service, relying on “pay at the pump” technology that accepts MasterCard, VISA, Discover® and debit card
transactions. Cash is also accepted at some locations. Both regular and premium gasoline are available. BI’s has
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generally maintained its gas prices at well below the average prices in each market. Results to date have shown
increased sales and membership at clubs with gas stations. BJ’s plans to continue expanding this service in 2003.

The Company’s “BJ’s Premier Benefits™” program is designed to enhance the value of BJ’s membership,

particularly to business members. Included in the program are discounted payroll processing, payment processing
of all major credit cards, participation in an established preferred medical provider network that provides
comprehensive health care services at discounted rates, local and long-distance phone and Internet access, rebates
on the buying and selling of residential real estate, an automobile buying service, BJ’s Vacations and printing of
business forms and checks.

Membership

Paid membership is an essential part of the warehouse club concept. In addition to providing a source of
revenue which permits BJ’s to offer low prices, membership reinforces customer loyalty. BI’s has two types of
members: Inner Circle members and business members. BJ’s Inner Circle members are likely to be home owners
whose incomes are above the average for the Company’s trading areas. BJ’s believes that a significant percentage
of its business members also shops BJ’s for their personal needs. The Company had approximately 8.2 million
members (including supplemental cardholders) at February 1, 2003. BJ’s offered free memberships in
conjunction with its entry into the Atlanta market in 2002. Excluding the free first-year memberships offered
during the preopening and initial opening periods for the four new clubs in the Atlanta market, the Company had
approximately 7.6 million members (including supplemental cardholders) at February 1, 2003.

BJ’s generally charges $40 per year for a primary Inner Circle membership that includes one free
supplemental mermbership. Members in the same household may purchase additional supplemental memberships
for $20 each. A business membership also costs $40 per year and includes one free supplemental membership.
Additional supplemental business memberships cost $20 each.

BJ’s plans to launch a premium membership program in 2003. Geared to high frequency, high volume
consumer members, the program will offer a 2% rebate, capped at $500 per year, on generally all in-club
purchases for an annual fee of $75.

Advertising and Public Relations

BJ’s increases customer awareness of its warehouse clubs primarily through direct mail, public relations
efforts, new store marketing programs, and television and radio advertising (some of which is vendor funded)
during the holiday season. BJ’s also employs dedicated marketing personnel who solicit potential business
members and who contact other selected organizations to increase the number of members. From time to time,
BJ’s runs free trial membership promotions to attract new members, with the objective of converting them to
paid membership status, and also uses one-day passes to introduce non-members to its warehouse clubs. These
programs result in very low marketing expenses compared with typical retailers. In 2003, BI’s plans to
significantly upgrade its customer relationship management capabilities with the objective of developing new
tools to drive shopping frequency and encourage membership renewals.

Club Operations

BJ’s ability to achieve profitable operations depends upon high sales volumes and the efficient operation of
its warehouse clubs. The Company buys most of its merchandise from manufacturers for shipment either to a
BJ’s cross-dock facility or directly to BJ’s clubs. This eliminates many of the costs associated with traditional
multiple-step distribution channels, including distributors’ commissions and the costs of storing merchandise in
central distribution facilities.

BJ’s routes the majority of its purchases through cross-dock facilities which break down truckload quantity
shipments from manufacturers and reallocate these goods for shipment to individual clubs, generally on a same-
day basis. BJ’s efficient distribution systems result in reduced freight expenses and lower receiving costs.
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The Company works closely with manufacturers to minimize the amount of handling required once
merchandise is received at a club. Most merchandise is pre-marked by the manufacturer so that it does not
require ticketing at the club. Merchandise for sale is generally displayed on pallets containing large quantities of
each item, thereby reducing labor required for handling, stocking and restocking. Back-up merchandise is
generally stored in steel racks above the sales floor.

BI’s has been able to limit inventory shrinkage to levels well below those typical of other retailers by
strictly controlling the exits of its clubs, by generally limiting customers to members and by using state-of-the-art
electronic article surveillance technology. BJ’s inventory shrinkage was less than .20% of net sales in each of the
last five fiscal years. Problems associated with payments by check have been insignificant, as members who
issue dishonored checks are restricted to cash-only terms. BJ’s policy is to accept returns of merchandise within
30 days after purchase.

BJ’s is the only warehouse club operator to accept both MasterCard and VISA chainwide. Additionally,
BI’s members may pay for their purchases by cash, check, debit cards or Discover Card.

In 2002, BJ’s rolled out a new BJ’s co-branded MasterCard underwritten by a major financial institution on
a non-recourse basis. Purchases made at BJ’s with the co-branded MasterCard earn a 1.5% rebate. All other
purchases with the BJ’s MasterCard earn rebates ranging from 0.5% to 1.0%. Rebates up to $500 per year per
membership account are issued by the financial institution in the form of BJ’s Bucks® checks redeemable for
merchandise at any BJ’s club.

Information Systems

Over the course of its development, BJ’s has made a significant investment in information systems. BJ’s
was the first warehouse club operator to introduce scanning devices which work in conjunction with its electronic
point of sale (EPOS) terminals. In recent years, BJ’s implemented “360 degree” scanning, upgraded the cash
register printers at the checkout stations in its clubs to enhance the efficiency of the checkout process and
implemented an on-line refund system at the clubs to more effectively process sales returns. In 2002, BJ's
completed the implementation of a new inventory replenishment system and installed self checkout technology in
40 clubs. BJ’s plans to roll out self checkout to 60 additional clubs in 2003,

Sales data is generally analyzed daily for replenishment purposes. Detailed purchasing data permits the
buying staff and store managers to track changes in members’ buying behavior. Detailed shrinkage information
by SKU by club allows management to quickly identify inventory shrinkage problems and formulate effective
action plans.

Competition

BI’s competes with a wide range of national, regional and local retailers and wholesalers selling food or
general merchandise in its markets, including supermarkets, supercenters, general merchandise chains, specialty
chains and other warehouse clubs, some of which have significantly greater financial and marketing resources
than BJI’s. Major competitors that operate warehouse clubs include Costco Wholesale Corporation and Sam’s
Clubs (a division of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.), each of which operates on a nationwide basis.

A large number of competitive membership warehouse clubs exists in BJ’s markets. Approximately 86% of
BJ’s 124 full-sized warehouse clubs have at least one competitive membership warehouse club in their trading
areas at a distance of about ten miles or less. None of the smaller format clubs has direct competition from other
warehouse clubs within ten miles.

BJ’s believes price is the major competitive factor in the markets in which it competes. Other competitive
factors include store location, merchandise selection, member services and name recognition. BJ’s believes its
efficient, low-cost form of distribution gives it a significant competitive advantage over more traditional channels
of wholesale and retail distribution.



Seasonality

Sales and net income have typically been strongest in the fourth quarter holiday season and lowest in the
first quarter of each fiscal year.

Employees

As of February 1, 2003, BJ’s had approximately 17,000 full-time and part-time employees (“team
members”). None of the Company’s team members is represented by a union. BY's considers its relations with its

team members to be excellent.

Available Information

BJ’s makes available free of charge on its website its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Internet users can access this
information on BJ’s website at http://www.bjs.com.

Item 2. Properties

BJ’s operated 140 warehouse club locations as of February 1, 2003, of which 87 are leased under long-term
leases and 43 are owned. BJ’s owns the buildings at the remaining 10 locations, which are subject to long-term
ground leases. A listing of the number of BI’s locations in each state is shown on page 1.

The unexpired terms of BJ’s leases range from approximately 1.5 to 38 years, and average approximately 13
years. BJ’s has options to renew all but one of its leases for periods that range from approximately 10 to 50 years
and average approximately 21 years. These leases require fixed monthly rental payments which are subject to
various adjustments. Certain leases require payment of a percentage of the warehouse club’s gross sales in excess
of certain amounts. Generally, all leases require that BJ’s pay all property taxes, insurance, utilities and other
operating costs.

BJI’s home offices in Natick, Massachusetts, occupy 166,000 square feet under leases expiring January 31,
2006, with options to extend these leases through January 31, 2011. The Company also leases two cross-dock
facilities, which occupy a total of 776,000 square feet under leases which expire in 2010 and 2021, with options
to extend these leases through 2025 and 2041, respectively. The Company opened a new owned 480,000 square
foot cross-dock facility in Jacksonville, Florida, in April 2003.

See Note E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for additional
information with respect to the Company’s leases.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

BJ’s is involved in various legal proceedings that are typical of a retail business. Although it is not possible
to predict the outcome of these proceedings or any related claims, the Company believes that such proceedings or
claims will not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or
results of operations.

Iterm 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year ended February 1, 2003.




Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name Age Office and Employment During Last Five Years

HerbertJ. Zarkin ........ 64 Chairman of the Board of the Company since July 1997; President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director of Waban (1993-1997); Executive Vice
President of Waban (1989-1993); President of the BJ’s Division of Waban
(the “BJ’s Division”) (1990-1993). Mr. Zarkin was also Chairman of Waban
(now known as House2Home) from July 1997 to June 2002 and was
President and Chief Executive Officer of House2Home from March 2000 to
September 2001. House2Home filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code on November 7, 2001. (See Note B of Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for
additional information.)

Michael T. Wedge . ... ... 49  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company since
September 2002; Executive Vice President, Club Operations of the Company
(July 1997-September 2002); Executive Vice President, Sales Operations of
the BJ’s Division from February 1997 to July 1997

Frank D. Forward ....... 48 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Cfficer of the Company since
July 1997; Executive Vice President, Finance of the BJ’s Division from
February 1997 to July 1997

Edward F. Giles, Ir. ..... 43 Executive Vice President, Club Operations of the Company since September
2002; Senior Vice President, Field Operations of the Company (June 2001-
September 2002); Senior Vice President, Sales Operations of the Company
(June 1999-June 2001); Zone Vice President, Club Operations of the
Company (July 1997-June 1999); Zone Vice President, Club Operations of
the BJ’s Division from February 1997 to July 1997

Kellye L. Walker . ....... 36 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since
February 2003; Hill & Barlow, PC (Boston, Massachusetts) (Of Counsel/
Member, July 2000-February 2003); Chaffe, McCall, Phillips, Toler & Sarpy,
LLP (New Orleans, Louisiana) Partner, September 1998-June 2000;
associate, November 1995-September 1998)

All officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors and hold office until the next annual meeting of
the Board of Directors and until their successors are elected and qualified.




PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters

The common stock of the Company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol “BJ”). The quarterly
high and low stock prices for the fiscal years ended February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002 were:

Fiscal Year Ended  Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, 2003 February 2, 2002

Quarter High Low High Low

$47.90 $40.40 $48.35 $41.33
3024 5724 4134
1442 56.86 39.25
15.13 5270  39.57

The approximate number of stockholders of record at March 31, 2003 was 2,200. The Company has never
declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. For restrictions on the payment of dividends, see Note D of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Fiscal Year Ended
Feb. 1, Feb. 2, Feb. 3, Jan. 28, Jan, 30,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(53 Weeks)
(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Data)
Income Statement Data
Netsales .. ...t i $5,728,955 $5,105,912 $4,766,612 $4,054,526 $3,443,454
Membership feesandother .................... 130,747 117,394 102,514 89,097 74,829
Total TEVENUES ..o i ittt et 5,859,702 5,223,306 4,869,126 4,143,623 3,518,283
Cost of sales, including buying and occupancy
COSES « ettt e et e 5,231,001 4,632,117 4,316,460 3,666912 3,122,269
Selling, general and administrative expenses ...... 397,186 345,785 334,768 288,189 252,889
Preopening eXpenses . .............eiiiiain... 11,735 10,343 8,471 8,896 7,019
Pension termination costs ..................... — — — — 1,521
Cperating income . ... ....vvetrn e 219,780 235,061 209,427 179,626 134,585
Interestincome, net ........ ..o, 203 4,137 6,180 4,030 1,219
Income (loss) on contingent lease obligations (1) . .. 15,607 (106,359) — — —
Income from continuing operations before income
taxes and cumulative effect of accounting
principle changes .............. ... ... . ..., 235,680 132,839 215,607 183,656 135,804
Provision for income taxes . .................... 89,871 49,068 83,009 71,075 53,371
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes ... 145,809 83,771 132,598 112,581 82,433
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income
taxbenefit (2) ... (14,943) (1,423) (1,097) (1,432) (628)
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
principle changes ........... ... . ... ..., 130,866 82,348 131,501 111,149 81,805
Cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes ...... ... . il — — — — (19,326)
Netincome .. ...ovii i $ 130,866 $§ 82348 $ 131,501 $ 111,149 $ 62,479
Income per common share:
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes . ... $ 207 $ 1.16 $ 1.82 % 153 § 1.10
Loss from discontinued operations .......... 0.21) (0.02) (0.02) (0.02) (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes .......... ... . il — — — — (0.26)
Netincome .. ..ovvieii e, $ 186 § 1.14 § 180 $ 151 § 0.83
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes ....... ...t $ 205 $ 1.13 § 1.78 % 149 3 1.08
Loss from discontinued operations .......... 0.2D) (0.02) (0.01) (0.02) (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting principle
changes .......... ..o il — — —_ —_— (0.25)
NetinCome .. ..covvvviiiiieneaanneann. $ 1.84 % .11 $ 1.77 % 147 § 0.82
Balance Sheet Data
Workingcapital .......... .. . . i $ 117,042 $ 127,818 $ 179,928 $ 133,476 § 108,979
Total @SSELS .o\t i et 1,480,957 1,422,511 1,233969 1,131,096 952,642
Long-term debt and obligations under capital
JEASES - ottt e — 1,558 1,828 2,050 32,249
Stockholders'equity ........ .. ... il 740,803 686,567 664,915 577,398 485,042
Clubs open atendofyear .................... 140 130 118 107 96

(1) See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction

BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc., which previously had been a wholly owned subsidiary of Waban Inc., became a
separate and independent public entity on July 28, 1997, when Waban distributed to its stockholders on a pro rata
basis all of the Company’s outstanding common stock (the “spin-off”).

Unless noted otherwise, the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003 is referred to as “2002.” Other fiscal years
are referred to in a similar manner.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company reviews its
estimates on an ongoing basis and makes judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities based on a
number of factors. These factors include historical experience, guidance provided by outside experts and
assumptions made by management that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. This section
summarizes critical accounting policies and the related judgments involved in their application.

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of merchandise when the customer takes delivery of and
title to the merchandise, typically at the time of purchase in the club. In the limited instances when the customer
is not able to take delivery at the club, shipping terms are normally FOB shipping point. In all cases, revenue
from the sale of merchandise is not recognized unti! title and risk of loss pass to the customer. Membership fee
revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the membership, which is typically twelve months.

In determining comparable club information, the Company includes all clubs that were open for at least 13
months at the beginning of the period and were in operation during all of both periods being compared. However,
if a club is in the process of closing, it is excluded from comparable clubs. The Company includes relocated
clubs and expansions in comparable clubs. The Company reports comparable club sales information on a “same-
week basis” whenever it is comparing sales between two fiscal years having 52 weeks in one year and 53 weeks
in another. Sales for the 52 weeks ended February 2, 2002 were compared with sales for the last 52 weeks of the
fiscal year ended February 3, 2001 to have a proper comparison for comparable sales reporting.

The Company receives various types of cash consideration from vendors, principally in the form of rebates
based on purchasing or selling certain volumes of product; time-based rebates or allowances, which may include
product placement allowances or exclusivity arrangements covering a predetermined period of time; price
protection rebates and allowances for retail reductions on certain merchandise; and salvage allowances for
product that is damaged, defective or becomes out-of-date. The Company recognizes such vendor rebates and
allowances based on a systematic and rational allocation of the cash consideration offered to the underlying
transaction that results in progress by the Company toward earning the rebates and allowances, provided the
amounts to be earned are probable and reasonably estimable. Otherwise, rebates and allowances are recognized
only when predetermined milestones are met. Yendor rebates and allowances are typically realized as a reduction
of cost of sales when the merchandise is sold or otherwise disposed of.

The Company also receives cash consideration from vendors for demonstrating their products in the clubs or
for advertising their products, particularly in the BJ’s Journal, a publication sent to BJ’s members several times a
year. Cash consideration for product demonstrations is recognized as a reduction of selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in the period during which the demonstrations are performed. Cash
consideration for advertising vendors’ products is recognized as a reduction of SG&A expenses in the period in
which the advertising takes place. In both cases, cash consideration represents a reimbursement of specific,
incremental and identifiable SG&A costs incurred by the Company to sell the vendors’ products.
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Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined under the average cost method, or market.
The Company recognizes the write-down of slow-moving or obsolete inventory in cost of sales when such write-
downs are probable and estimable. Records are maintained at the stockkeeping unit (SKU) level. A report that details
the number of weeks of selling supply for each SKU allows the merchandising staff to make timely markdown
decisions to help maintain rapid inventory turnover, which is essential in the Company’s business. The carrying value
of any SKU whose selling price is marked down to below cost is immediately reduced to that selling price.

The Company takes physical inventories of merchandise on a cycle basis at every location each year. A
second physical inventory is taken at the end of the year at selected locations. The Company estimates a reserve
for inventory shrinkage for the period between physical inventories. This estimate is based on historical results of
previous physical inventories, shrinkage trends or other judgments management believes to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

The Company reviews the realizability of its long-lived assets annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Current and expected operating
results and cash flows and other factors are considered in connection with the Company’s reviews. For purposes
of evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the recoverability test is performed using undiscounted net
cash flows of individual clubs and consolidated net cash flows for long-lived assets not identifiable to individual
clubs. Significant judgments are made in projecting future cash flows and are based on a number of factors,
including the maturity level of the club, historical experience of clubs with similar characteristics, recent trends
and general economic assumptions. The time period for newer clubs to become profitable varies, especially for
clubs in a new market. BJ’s does not consider newer clubs at risk for impairment of long-lived assets until they
meet planned dates for maturity. Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the impaired assets.

As of February 1, 2003, the Company had not established a valuation allowance for its deferred tax assets
because those assets can be realized by offsetting deferred tax liabilities and future taxable income, which
management believes will more likely than not be earned, based on the Company’s historical record and
projected earnings. Significant changes in projections of future taxable income could result in the Company’s
establishment of a valuation allowance, which would reduce the carrying value of deferred tax assets.

During the fiscal year ended February 2, 2002, the Company established reserves for its liability related to
House2Home, Inc. (“House2Home”) leases. Pursuant to an agreement with The TJX Companies, Inc. (“TTX"),
BJ’s agreed to indemnify TJX for 100% of House2Home’s lease liabilities guaranteed by TJX through January
31, 2003 and for 50% of any such liabilities thereafter. House2Home filed for bankruptcy in November 2001.
(See Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.) BJ’s recorded liabilities
were based on the present value of rent liabilities under the House2Home leases, including estimated real estate
taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by estimated income from the subleasing of these
properties. An annual discount rate of 6% was used to calculate the present value of these lease obligations. This
rate was based on estimated incremental borrowing rates for the Company during the weighted-average period of
time over which these obligations are expected to be paid.

A considerable amount of judgment was involved in determining BJ’s net liability related to House2Home
leases, particularly in estimating potential sublease income. The Company obtained an independent appraisal to help
make this determination. Assumptions included an average period of time it would take to sublease the properties
and the amount of potential sublease income for each property. The Company continually evaluates the adequacy of
its House2Home reserves based on progress made in settling its obligations and the status of ongoing negotiations.
A significant number of House2Home leases were settled in 2002 and an adjustment to reduce the House2Home
reserve was made in the third quarter of 2002. Because the vast majority of the House2ZHome settlements to date
have been made through lump sum settlements and because the Company believes that most of the remaining leases
will be settled in the same manner, the Company is now basing the determination of its liability on estimated lump
sum settlements instead of the previous assumption that the properties would be subleased. The Company may still
satisfy its obligations by subleasing properties, which could change the timing of cash outflows.
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During the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003, the Company established reserves for its lease liabilities for
three clubs which were closed in November 2002. Two of these clubs were in the Columbus, Chio, market and
one was in North Dade, Florida. See Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information. BJ’s recorded liabilities are based on the present value of rent liabilities under these leases,
including estimated real estate taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by estimated income from
the subleasing of these properties. An annual discount rate of 6% was used to calculate the present value of these
lease obligations. This rate was based on the estimated incremental borrowing rate for the Company during the
weighted-average period of time over which these obligations are expected to be paid.

A considerable amount of judgment was involved in determining BJ’s net liability related to the closed club
leases, particularly in estimating potential sublease income. Based on its knowledge of real estate conditions in the
local markets and its experience in those markets, the Company assumed an average period of time it would take to
sublease the properties and the amount of potential sublease income for each property. Net payments that the
Company makes to settle its lease obligations will reduce operating cash flows in varying amounts over the
remaining terms of the leases, which expire at various times up to 2019. Instead of subleasing the properties, the
Company may satisfy its obligations through lump sum settlements, which could result in accelerated cash outflows.

The Company is primarily self-insured for worker’s compensation and general liability claims. Reported
reserves for these claims are derived from estimated ultimate costs based upon individual claim file reserves and
estimates for incurred but not reported claims. Estimates are based on valuations provided by third-party actuaries,
historical loss development factors, and other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings that are typical of a retail business. Along with
outside legal counsel, the Company assesses its exposure related to these proceedings and determines the amount
of accruals required, if any, for these contingencies.

Results of Operations

The following table presents income statement data for continuing operations for the last three fiscal years:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, 2003 February 2, 2002 February 3, 2001
(53 weeks)
% of % of % of
$ Net Sales $ Net Sales $ Net Sales
(Dollars in Millions except Per Share Amounts)
Netsales .. ...oovrei i $5,729.0 100.0% $5,105.9 100.0% $4,766.6 100.0%
Membership fees andother ................. 130.7 23 117.4 2.3 102.5 22
Totalrevenues ...........coviivnnnnnn. 5,859.7 1023 52233 1023 4869.1 1022
Cost of sales, including buying and occupancy
COSES &+ vttt et 5,231.0 91.3 4,632.1 90.7 4,316.4 90.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . 397.2 7.0 345.8 6.8 334.8 7.0
Preopening expenses ...................... 11.7 0.2 10.3 6.2 8.5 0.2
Operating income . . ............coueuien. . 219.8 3.8 235.1 4.6 2094 4.4
Interestincome, net ....................... 0.3 0.0 4.1 0.1 6.2 0.1
Income (loss) on contingent lease obligations . . . 15.6 0.3 (106.4) 2.1 0.0 0.0
Income from continuing operations before
INCOME (AXES .« .o vvve i iienrenns 2357 4.1 132.8 2.6 215.6 4.5
Provision for income taxes ................. 89.9 1.6 49.0 1.0 83.0 1.7
Income from continuing operations . .......... $ 1458 25% $ 83.8 1.6% $ 132.6 2.8%
Diluted net income per common share ........ $ 205 $ 113 $ 1.78
Number of clubs in operation at yearend ... ... 140 130 118
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Net sales increased by 12.2% from 2001 to 2002 and by 7.1% from 2000 to 2001. 2000 was a 53-week
fiscal year. These increases were due to the opening of new clubs and gasoline stations and to comparable club
sales increases. Increases in comparable club sales represented 16% of the total increase in net sales from 2001 to
2002 and, on a same-week basis, 41% of the total increase in net sales from 2000 to 2001. New clubs accounted
for the remainder of the increases.

Comparable club sales increased by 2.0% from 2001 to 2002 and, on a same-week basis, increased by 3.6%
from 2000 to 2001. Additionally, the Company expanded the number of gasoline stations it operates from 34 at
the end of 2000 to 55 at the end of 2001 and 68 at the end of 2002. Excluding sales of gasoline, comparable club
sales increased by 1.1% from 2001 to 2002 and by 3.1% from 2000 to 2001. Comparable club sales results in
2002 reflected a generally weaker economic climate, price deflation in a number of food and general
merchandise categories and increased competition.

Total revenues included membership fees of $117.9 million in 2002, $105.6 million in 2001 and $90.1
million in 2000. The increases were due mainly to an increase in BJ's membership fee from $35 to $40, effective
January 1, 2001, and to new members. Because members renew throughout the year and because membership fee
income is realized over the life of the membership, the benefit of the fee increase was spread over 2001 and
2002. Business members renewed at a rate of 87% and Inner Circle members renewed at a rate of 83% in both
2002 and 2001.

The Company entered the Atlanta market with four new clubs in 2002. Because Atlanta was a market where
BJ’s had no other clubs, very limited name recognition and two entrenched competitors, the Company tested a
program of free first-year memberships during the preopening and initial opening periods of the new Atlanta
clubs in 2002. Because of the initial free membership offer, the Company believes that it attracted more members
and generated more sales in these clubs in 2002 than would have been the case if new members had to pay a
membership fee. The Company will generate incremental income from members who renew their membership
for a fee in 2003 in this market. Sales are expected to decrease to a more normalized volume in 2003 than was
experienced as a result of the initial free memberships offered the previous year in the Atlanta market clubs.

Cost of sales (including buying and occupancy costs) was 91.31% of net sales in 2002, 90.72% in 2001 and
90.56% in 2000. The increase in the cost of sales percentage from 2001 to 2002 was due to decreased
merchandise gross margins and the increased sales contribution of gasoline, which together combined for
approximately 63% of the increase in the cost of sales ratio, and higher occupancy expenses, which accounted for
most of the remainder of the increase. Gross margins on merchandise sales were lower in 2002 because of an
unfavorable sales mix toward lower margin consumables and because of certain pricing initiatives begun in the
fourth quarter to drive additional sales. The gross margin rate on gasoline sales is significantly lower than the
overall gross margin rate for the rest of BJ’s business. Occupancy expenses increased as a percentage of sales due
to lower than planned comparable club sales increases and the opening of 25 new clubs (which generally start out
with lower sales volumes than mature clubs) in the last eighteen months. The increase in the cost of sales
percentage from 2000 to 2001 was attributable mainly to the increased sales contribution of gasoline, higher
expenses for utilities and other occupancy costs, and initial excess capacity at the Company’s new cross-dock
facility in Burlington, New Jersey. Excluding gas, merchandise gross margin as a percentage of sales in 2001
rose slightly over the previous year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were 6.93% of net sales in 2002, 6.77% in 2001 and 7.02% in
2000. The increase in the SG&A ratio in 2002 was due principally to increases in payroll, debit and credit card
expenses and medical insurance, partially offset by lower incentive pay expenses and the increased contribution
of gasoline sales, which have low related SG&A costs. The Company also included $1.8 million of asset
impairment charges in SG&A in 2002, The SG&A ratio in general was unfavorably impacted by the effect of
lower than planned comparable club sales increases on certain fixed expenses. The decrease in the SG&A ratio
from 2000 to 2001 was due mainly to increased comparable club sales, lower payroll expenses as a percentage of
sales and the increased contribution of gasoline sales.
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Total SG&A expenses rose by $51.4 million from 2001 to 2002 and by $11.0 million from 2000 (a 53-week
year) to 2001. These increases were due mainly to an increase in the number of clubs in operation in both
periods, Payroll and payroll benefits accounted for 82% of all SG&A expenses in 2002, and 83% in each of 2001
and 2000. Payroll and payroll benefits accounted for 69% of the increase in total SG&A expenses from 2001 to
2002 and 94% of the increase in total SG&A expenses from 2000 to 2001. The amount of the increase from 2001
to 2002 contributed by payroll and related benefits was lower than usual, primarily because of lower incentive
pay expenses in 2002. Excluding the effect of expenses incurred in connection with the relocation of a cross-dock
facility in 2000 (see next paragraph), payroll and related benefits accounted for 82% of the increase in total
SG&A expenses from 2000 to 2001.

In 2000, the Company recorded pretax charges of $2.6 million associated with the relocation of its cross-
dock facility from Bristol, Pennsylvania, to Burlington, New Jersey. This relocation was completed in April
2001. The Company recorded $1.6 million of the charges in SG&A expenses and $1.0 million in cost of sales,
including buying and occupancy expenses. In 2002, the Company extended subleases for its former cross-dock
facility in Bristol, Pennsylvania, and consequently reduced its related lease liabilities by $1.0 million. The credit
was recorded in SG&A expenses. ‘

Preopening expenses were $11.7 million in 2002, $10.3 million in 2001 and $8.5 million in 2000. The
Company opened thirteen new clubs in 2002, twelve new clubs in 2001 and eleven new clubs in 2000. One club
was relocated in each of 2001 and 2000. A portion of 2002’s preopening expenses was incurred for a new cross-
dock facility which opened in Jacksonville, Florida, in April 2003.

Interest income, net was $0.3 million in 2002, $4.1 million in 2001 and $6.2 million in 2000. The decrease
in net interest income from 2001 to 2002 was due primarily to lower invested cash balances, net of borrowings,
resulting mainly from slower inventory turns, from treasury stock purchases of approximately $83 million and
House2Home lease obligation payments of approximately $50 million in the last twelve months. The decrease
from 2000 to 2001 was attributable primarily to lower interest rates, which reduced income earned on invested
cash. See Note L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of the components of interest
income and expense.

The Company recorded a pretax charge of $105.0 million in the third quarter of 2001 for its estimated loss
associated with House2Home leases. This loss was based on the present value of rent liabilities under these
leases, including estimated real estate taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by estimated income
from the subleasing of these properties. An annual discount of 6% was used to calculate the present value of
these lease obligations. The Company also recorded accretion charges of $1.4 million in connection with these
obligations in 2001.

Based on the Company’s continuing evaluation of its remaining obligations and the significant progress
made in settling liabilities for House2Home leases, the Company recorded a $20 million pretax gain in 2002 to
reduce its estimated liability related to its contingent lease obligations. This was partially offset by pretax
accretion charges of $4.4 million recorded in 2002 in connection with these obligations. See Note B of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

The Compary’s income tax provision was 38.1% of pretax income from continuing operations in 2002,
36.9% in 2001 and 38.5% in 2000. The lower rate in 2001 was due primarily to the effect of the tax benefit on
the loss of contingent lease obligations, which was recorded at an incremental tax rate of 40%. Excluding the loss
on contingent lease obligations, the Company’s income tax was 38.0% of pretax income from continuing
operations in 2002, 38.3% in 2001 and 38.5% in 2000. The decreases in the overall effective rates were due
mainly to lower effective state income tax rates in each of the last two fiscal years.

Income from continuing operations was $145.8 million, or $2.05 per diluted share, in 2002, $83.8 million,
or $1.13 per diluted share, in 2001 and $132.6 million, or $1.78 per diluted share, in 2000. These amounts
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included a post-tax gain from the reduction in the Company’s House2Home lease reserve of $12.0 million, or
$.17 per diluted share, in 2002 and a post-tax loss of $63.0 million, or $.85 per diluted share, in 2001 to establish
its liabilities for House2Home lease obligations.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax benefit, was $14.9 million, or $.21 per diluted share, in 2002,
$1.4 million, or $.02 per diluted share, in 2001 and $1.1 million, or $.01 per diluted share, in 2000. The loss in
2002 included a post-tax loss of $12.8 million, or $.18 per diluted share, to close three clubs in November 2002
and post-tax operating losses of $2.1 million for those three clubs. Loss from discontinued operations in 2001
and 2000 consisted entirely of the operating losses of the three closed clubs.

Net income was $130.9 million, or $1.84 per diluted share, in 2002, versus $82.3 million, or $1.11 per
diluted share, in 2001 and $131.5 million, or $1.77 per diluted share, in 2000.

Qutlook for 2003

During the second half of 2002, BJ’s senior management team performed a strategic analysis of the
Company’s current position within the warehouse club industry as well as its sales and earnings prospects for the
future. On the basis of that analysis, the Company affirmed its commitment to a business model based, in part, on
long-term objectives to achieve comparable club sales growth of 3-5%, annual selling square footage growth of
up to 10% and annual growth in earnings per share in the range of 10-15%.

To support these objectives the Company began making new investments in merchandising, marketing,
technology and club appearance that will continue throughout 2003:

e In merchandising, the Company has lowered prices in dairy and other high-volume food categories to
enhance its competitive position and is improving quality in its produce, bakery and certain other
departments while maintaining its retail prices.

»  The Company’s marketing plans for 2003 include the complete upgrade of its Customer Relationship
Management (CRM) system, as well as the launch of a premium membership program that will
reward high volume members with rebates of up to $500 per year for an annual membership fee of
$75.

* By the end of 2002, the Company completed a migration to a new inventory replenishment system and
the installation of self checkout lanes in 40 clubs. In 2003, the Company is planning a significant
increase in technology initiatives, including a new warehouse management system for the Company’s
cross-dock operations, upgrades to labor scheduling software and the addition of self checkout lanes in
60 more clubs. A major redesign of BI’s website was completed in March 2003.

¢ During the second half of 2002, the Company began making new investments in club layout by
upgrading club décor, relocating its expanded health and beauty aids department to the front of the club
and improving its presentation in a number of fresh food departments. In 2003 the Company plans to
refurbish a total of 30 clubs in this manner and to evaluate the renovation or relocation of some of its
older clubs.

Most of BJ’s initiatives in 2003 are focused on increasing sales and market share. In order to achieve sales
increases, the Company plans to lower margins on certain merchandise and gasoline, increase marketing
expenses to support its new CRM and merchandising initiatives and increase club payroll to execute its ~
initiatives. The Company expects that incentive pay expenses will increase above their minimal level of 2002.
BY’s will incur initial excess capacity costs in connection with a new cross-dock facility which opened in April
2003. Net interest expense is projected to be approximately $1 million in 2003. Accretion charges on the
Company’s House2Home lease liabilities are expected to decrease in 2003. The Company’s ongoing tax rate is
expected to be slightly higher than 2002’s rate of 38.0% due to certain tax law changes in states where BJ’s is
located.
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Seasonality

The Company’s business, in common with the business of retailers generally, is subject to seasonal
influences. The Company’s sales and operating income have typically been strongest in the fourth quarter
holiday season and lowest in the first quarter of each fiscal year.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued the following standards which became
effective in the fourth quarter of 2002 or will become effective in 2003:

> Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement
of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the
Company recognize future costs for asset retirements to be incurred primarily in connection with
removal of gasoline tanks from its gasoline stations. The Company will recognize a liability for existing
asset retirement obligations, adjusted for cumulative accretion, and an asset retirement cost capitalized
as an increase to the carrying amount of associated long-lived assets, adjusted for accumulated
depreciation, upon initial application of SFAS No. 143. As of the beginning of fiscal 2003, the Company
will recognize the cumulative effect of applying this statement as a change in accounting principle,
which the Company expects will result in a post-tax charge of approximately $1.0 to $1.4 million. The
Company estimates that the post-tax charge for the ongoing impact of SFAS No. 143 for the full 2003
fiscal year will be approximately $0.6 to $0.8 million.

o SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” addresses financial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with such activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity.” SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit
or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an
exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of SFAS
No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. In accordance with
the transition provisions of SFAS No. 146, the Company will continue to apply the provisions of EITF
Issue 94-3 for the three clubs it closed in November 2002.

o SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,” amends
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of
transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. SFAS No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. This
standard becomes effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002 and
for financial reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the principles of APB
25. The disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 have been applied in this report on Form 10-X and will
be applied in interim periods beginning with the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003.

o FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a
guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements under certain guarantees that it has issued. It
also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the
fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and initial
measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued
or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements in this Interpretation are effective for
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financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The disclosure
provisions of this Interpretation have been applied in this report on Form 10-K and will be applied in
interim periods beginning with the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003.

¢ FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” addresses consolidation by
business enterprises of variable interest entities, which have one or both of the following
characteristics:

1) The equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties, which is provided through other
interests that will absorb some or all of the expected losses of the entity.

2) The equity investors lack one or more of certain essential characteristics of a controlling financial
interest as stated in this Interpretation.

This Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003
and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in
the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 to variable interest entities in
which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company
believes that the adoption of this Interpretation will result in no material change from its existing
reporting.

Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for
Certain Consideration Received by a Vendor,” (“EITF 02-16") addresses how a reseller should account for
cash consideration received from a vendor. The first issue of EITF 02-16 became effective for arrangements
entered into or modified after December 31, 2002. Under this issue, there is a presumption that cash
consideration received by a customer from a vendor should be characterized as a reduction of cost of sales.
That presumption is overcome when the consideration is a reimbursement of costs incurred by the customer to
sell the vendor’s products, in which case the cash consideration should be characterized as a reduction of that
cost. If the amount of cash consideration exceeds the cost being reimbursed, that excess amount should be
characterized as a reduction of cost of sales. Beginning in fiscal 2003, the Company will classify any cash
consideration in excess of expenses being reimbursed, should such an excess occur, as a reduction of cost of
sales.

The second issue of EITF 02-16, which became effective for arrangements entered into after November 21,
2002, addresses the recognition and classification of cash consideration that is payable pursuant to a binding
arrangement only if the customer completes a specified cumulative level of purchases or remains a customer for
a specified period of time. The adoption of this issue resulted in no change from the Company’s existing
accounting.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $151.3 million in 2002 compared with $194.8 million in 2001
and $158.3 million in 2000. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities in 2002 versus 2001 was
due principally to payments made to settle House2Home liabilities and a decrease in cash provided by the tax
benefit from the exercise of stock options. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities in 2001
versus 2000 was due mainly to an increase in cash provided by the change in accounts payable. Accounts payable
balances were higher than normal at the beginning of 2000 due in part to the January replenishment of
inventories in categories with millennium-related demand, much of which was paid for after the end of January
2000. Cash provided by net income before depreciation and amortization and the net post-tax loss on contingent
lease obligations, store closing costs and asset impairment losses was $208.6 million in 2002 versus $207.8
million in 2001 and $186.5 million in 2000.
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Cash expended for property additions was $134.8 million in 2002 versus $166.3 million in 2001. In 2002,
the Company opened thirteen new clubs and purchased one existing club, which was previously leased. In 2001,
the Company opened twelve new clubs and relocated one club. Two of the 2002 openings and five of the 2001
openings were at owned locations. The Company also opened 14 new gas stations in 2002 and 21 new gas
stations in 2001. One gas station was closed in 2002.

The Company expects that capital expenditures will total approximately $215 to $225 million in 2003,
based on plans to open 12 or 13 new clubs and 16 gas stations. The Company expects to own approximately four
of the new club locations opening in 2003. The Company opened a new 480,000 square foot owned cross-dock
facility in Jacksonville, Florida, in April 2003. This facility will service the Company’s growing presence in the
Southeast. In addition to the purchase of the new cross-dock facility, the Company expects to refurbish
approximately 30 clubs and increase capital spending for a number of technology initiatives. The timing of actual
club openings and the amount of related expenditures could vary from the estimates above due, among other
things, to the complexity of the real estate development process.

During 2002, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional $100 million of the
Company’s common stock in addition to the $300 million previously authorized. In 2002, the Company
repurchased 2,648,700 shares of common stock for $83.5 million, or an average price of $31.51 per share. From
the inception of its share repurchase activities in August 1998, the Company has repurchased a total of $309.5
million of common stock at an average cost of $31.69 per share. As of February 1, 2003, the Company’s
remaining repurchase authorization was $90.5 million.

On June 12, 2002, the Company entered into a new $200 million unsecured credit agreement with a group
of banks which expires June 13, 2005. The agreement includes a $50 million sub-facility for letters of credit,
of which $2.3 million was outstanding at February 1, 2003. The Company is required to pay an annual facility
fee which is currently 0.125% of the total commitment. Interest on borrowings is payable at the Company’s
option either at (a) the Eurodollar rate plus a margin which is currently 0.45% or (b) a rate equal to the higher
of the sum of the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50% or the agent bank’s prime rate. The Company is
also required to pay a usage fee in any calendar quarter during which the average daily amount of loans and
undrawn or unreimbursed letters of credit outstanding exceeds 33% of the total commitment. The usage fee, if
applicable, would currently be at an annual rate of 0.05% of the average daily amount of credit used under the
facility during the calendar quarter. The facility fee, Eurodollar margin and usage fee are subject to change
based upon the Company’s fixed charge coverage ratio. The agreement contains covenants which, among
other things, include minimum net worth and fixed charge coverage requirements and a maximum funded
debt-to-capital limitation. The Company is required to comply with these covenants on a quarterly basis.
Under the credit agreement, the Company may pay dividends or repurchase its own stock in any amount so
long as the Company remains in compliance with all other covenants. BJ’s has no credit rating triggers that
would accelerate the maturity date of debt if borrowings were outstanding under its credit agreement. Cn
August 13, 2002, the agreement was amended to change the minimum net worth requirement, thereby
providing the Company additional capacity to repurchase its common stock. The Company was in compliance
with the covenants and other requirements set forth in its credit agreement at February 1, 2003 and for all
fiscal periods throughout the year.

In addition to the credit agreement, the Company maintains a separate $50 million facility for letters of
credit, primarily to support the purchase of inventories, of which $19.2 million was outstanding at February 1,
2003, and also maintains a $25 million uncommitted credit line for short-term borrowings.

There were no bank borrowings outstanding at February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002.
Increases in inventories and accounts payable from February 2, 2002 to February 1, 2003 were due mainly
to the addition of new clubs. The average inventory per club at February 1, 2003 was 4.7% higher than it was a

year earlier, due in part to lower than planned inventory turns.
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During the third quarter of 2002, the Company established reserves for its liability related to leases for
three clubs which closed on November 9, 2002. (See Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.) BJ’s recorded liabilities are based on the present value of rent liabilities under the
three leases, including estimated real estate taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by
estimated income from the subleasing of these properties. An annual discount rate of 6% was used to calculate
the present value of these lease obligations. This rate was based on estimated borrowing rates for the Company
that took into consideration the weighted-average period of time over which these obligations are expected to
be paid.

A considerable amount of judgment was involved in determining BJ’s net liability related to the closed
club leases, particularly in estimating potential sublease income. Based on its knowledge of real estate
conditions in the local markets and its experience in those markets, the Company assumed an average period
of time it would take to sublease the properties and the amount of potential sublease income for each property.
Net payments that the Company makes to settle its lease obligations will reduce operating cash flows in
varying amounts over the remaining terms of the leases, which expire at various times up to 2019. Instead of
subleasing the properties, the Company may satisfy its obligations through lump sum settlements, which could
result in accelerated cash outflows. As of February 1, 2003, the Company has reserved a total of $17.5 million
associated with its liabilities for the closed club leases, $13.7 million of which is included in other noncurrent
liabilities, with the remainder included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the balance sheet.
The Company believes payments it will make in connection with these leases will not have a material effect on
its future financial condition or cash flows and that the liabilities recorded in the balance sheet adequately
provide for its obligations. However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s actual liability under the
leases will not vary materially from amounts recorded in the financial statements due to a number of factors,
including future economic factors which may affect the ability to successfully sublease or assign the
properties. The Company considers its maximum reasonably possible undiscounted pretax exposure with
respect to the leases for the three closed clubs to be approximately $51 million at February 1, 2003.

During 2002 the Company made payments totaling $49.8 million in connection with its indemnification
obligations for House2Home leases. The payments included lump sum settlements for 23 leases. Four
additional House2Home properties (for which BJ’s remains contingently liable) were assigned to third parties.
Based on the Company’s continuing evaluation of its remaining obligations and the progress it has made in
settling House2Home leases, the Company reduced its estimated obligations by recording a $20 million pretax
gain in 2002. Because the vast majority of House2Home settlements to date have been made through lump
sum payments and because the Company believes that most of the remaining 14 leases will be settled in the
same manner, the Company has based the determination of its liability as of February 1, 2003 on estimated
lump sum settlements instead of the previous assumption that the properties would be subleased. An
evaluation was made of each remaining property and some of the Company’s estimates were based on
negotiations in progress. Although the terms of the remaining House2Home leases expire at various times up
to 2016, the Company believes that it can settle its obligations on a more accelerated schedule than previously
assumed, and this is reflected in the contractual cash obligations table shown below. As of February 1, 2003,
the present value of the Company’s obligations for the remaining House2Home leases totaled $40.8 million,
including $22.1 million classified as current liabilities. The Company may still satisfy its obligations by
subleasing properties, which could change the timing of cash outflows. The Company believes that remaining
payments will not have a material impact on its future financial condition or cash flows and that the liabilities
recorded in the financial statements adequately provide for its indemnification obligations. However, there can
be no assurance that BJ’s actual liability under the TIX indemnification agreement will not differ materially
from amounts recorded in the financial statements due to a number of factors, including future economic
factors which may affect the Company’s ability to successfully settle its House2Home obligations. The
Company considers its maximum reasonably possible undiscounted pretax exposure for its House2Home lease
obligations to be approximately $67 million at February 1, 2003.
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The Company has filed proofs of claim against House2Home, Inc. for claims arising under certain
agreements between BJ’s and House2Home in connection with the Company’s spin-off from Waban Inc. in
July 1997. These claims arise primarily from BJ’s indemnification of TIX with respect to TJX’s guarantee of
House2Home leases and from the Tax Sharing Agreement dated July 28, 1997 between BI’s and
House2Home. BJ’s has filed proofs of claim totaling approximately $70 million. BJ’s intends to amend its
claims as it makes future payments for House2Home leases. House2Home has indicated that it intends to
contest at least a portion of BJ’s claims. The Company is unable to determine the amount, if any, of future
recoveries under the claims and, therefore, has not recognized such claims in its financial statements. In early
December 2002, the Official Committee of Creditors of House2Home, Inc. filed an objection in the United
States Bankruptcy Court, Central District of California, Santa Ana Division, to House2Home’s motion to
approve the Disclosure Statement in connection with its bankruptcy proceeding. In that objection, the
creditors’ committee stated that discussions are taking place between the committee and House2Home
regarding the investigation of potential claims that may exist against certain entities related to House2Home,
including BJ’s. On April 11, 2003, House2Home filed its Second Amended Plan of Liquidation and a related
Disclosure Statement. In these documents, House2Home indicated that unless it was successful in settling BJ’s
claims informally, it was likely to object to both BJ’s lease indemnification claims and BJ’s claims under the
Tax Sharing Agreement.

The following summarizes the Company’s contractual cash obligations as of February 1, 2003 and the effect
these obligations are expected to have on its liquidity and cash flows in future periods:

Contingent Closed

Operating Lease Club Lease
Payments Due by Peried Total Leases Obligations Obligations
(Dotiars in Thousands)
February 2003 to January 2004 ................ $ 126,958 $ 101,001 $22,093 $ 3,864
February 2004 to January 2006 ................ 222,035 204,408 12,566 5,061
February 2006 to January 2008 ................ 203,130 194,839 6,161 2,130
After January 2008 ........ ... ...l 1,052,975 1,046,515 — 6,460

$1,605,098 $1,546,763 $40,820  $17,515

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $32.7 million as of February 1, 2003 and no borrowings were outstanding
on that date. The Company believes that its current resources, together with anticipated cash flow from
operations, will be sufficient to finance its operations through the term of its credit agreement, which expires
June 13, 2005. However, the Company may from time to time seek to obtain additional financing.

Factors Which Could Affect Future Operating Results

This report contains a number of “forward-looking statements,” including statements regarding factors
discussed in “QOutlook for 2003 above; statements regarding planned capital expenditures, planned club and gas
station openings, lease obligations under the Company’s indemnification agreement with TJX, lease obligations
in connection with three closed clubs, the effects of implementing SFAS No. 143 in 2003, sales penetration of
private label products, pharmacy testing and other information with respect to the Company’s plans and
strategies. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“estimates,” “expects” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. There are a
number of important factors that could cause actual events or the Company’s actual results to differ materially
from those indicated by such forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the factors set forth
below and other factors noted elsewhere in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations, particularly those noted under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” In
addition, any forward-looking statements represent the Company’s estimates only as of the day this annual report
was first filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and should not be relied upon as representing the

I <¢
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Company’s estimates as of any subsequent date. While the Company may elect to update forward-looking
statements at some point in the future, the Company specifically disclaims any obligation to do so, even if its
estimates change.

BJ's warehouse clubs are located in the eastern United States, primarily in the Northeast. The Company’s
business may be adversely affected from time to time by economic downturns in its markets. In addition, the
Company may be impacted by state and local regulation in its markets and temporarily impacted by weather
conditions prevailing in its markets.

The Company competes with national, regional and local retailers and wholesalers, including national
chains in the warehouse merchandising business, some of which have significantly greater financial and
marketing resources than the Company, which could adversely affect the Company’s business, operating results
and financial condition.

In connection with the spin-off in 1997, Waban received a letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service to
the effect that, for federal income tax purposes, the distribution of the Company’s stock to Waban’s stockholders
(the “Distribution”) and related asset transfers would be tax-free to Waban’s stockholders. Certain future events
not within the control of the Company or House2Home, including, for example, certain dispositions of the
Company’s common stock or House2Home’s common stock, could cause the Distribution not to qualify for tax-
free treatment. If this occurred, the related tax liability would be payable by House2Home, although the
Company has agreed to indemnify House2Home under certain circumstances for all or a portion of such tax
liability.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company believes that its potential exposure to market risk as of February 1, 2003 is not material
because of the short contractual maturities of its cash and cash equivalents on that date. No bank debt was
outstanding at February 1, 2003. The Company has not used derivative financial instruments. See Summary of
Accounting Policies—Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Note D in Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BJ’S WHOLESALE CLUB, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Netsales ...t e e
Membership feesandother ... ....... ... ... . . L.

Total TEVENES it ittt e e e

Cost of sales, including buying and occupancy costs ............
Selling, general and administrative expenses ..................
Preopening EXpenses .. ...t

Operating inCome . ... vttt
Interest inCOME, NEL . ... ...ttt it i
Gain (loss) on contingent lease obligations ...................

Income from continuing operations before income taxes .........
Provision forincometaxes ................ooiiiiiii

Income from continuing operations ........... ...

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit of

$9,849,3883 and $687 .. ... ...

NEtINCOME ..o vttt it et e e e

Basic earnings per share:

Income from continuing operations .......................
Loss from discontinued operations ........................

NetinCOMmME ..ottt e e e

Diluted earnings per share:

Income from continuing operations .......................
Loss from discontinued operations ........................

Netincome ... vt e e

Number of common shares for earnings per share computations:
Basic ... ..
Diluted . ... .

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February 2, February 3,
2403 2002 2001
(53 weeks)

(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Amounts)

$ 5,728,955 $ 5,105,912 $ 4,766,612
130,747 117,394 102,514
5,859,702 5223306 4,869,126
5231001 4,632,117 4,316,460
397,186 345,785 334,768
11,735 10,343 8,471
219,780 235,061 209,427
293 4,137 6,180
15,607 (106,359) —
235,680 132,839 215,607
89,871 49,068 83,009
145,809 83,771 132,598
(14,943) (1,423) (1,097

$ 130866 $ 82348 $ 131,501

$ 207 $ 1.16 $ 1.82

(0.21) (0.02) (0.02)
$ 1.86 $ 1.14 $ 1.80
$ 205 $ 113 % 1.78
0.21) (0.02) (0.01)

$ 1.84 $ L1l $ 1.77

70,321,078 72,519,032 72,870,668

71,120,706 73,981,148 74,380,544

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BJ’S WHOLESALE CLUB, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
February 1, February 2,
2003 2002
(Dollars in Thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents ... ........... .ot $ 32683 $ 87,158
Accounts receivable ... ... 63,129 61,654
Merchandise INVENMOTIES . . v v oot ittt et e e e e e e e e e 631,535 560,001
Current deferred INCOME tAXES . . v v vt vt ittt et et e e s 20,697 27,226
Prepaid EXPENSES .. .ottt e 19,026 17,406
Total CHITENT ASSELS . . vttt ittt et e e e e et e e e e 767,070 753,445
Property at cost:
Landand buildings . ...... ... e 474,451 449,619
Leasehold costs and improvements . .. ...t 96,768 74,647
Furniture, fixtures and equipment . . ...ttt iienenn i, 423,114 369,671
994,333 893,937
Less: accumnlated depreciation and amortization ......................... 303,306 259,562
691,027 634,375
Property under capital leases . ... ... ... e — 3,319
Less: accumulated amortiZation . ...... ..ottt i e — 2,447
— 872
Deferred inCome TaXeS . . .. ottt e et e e — 12,571
L@ 11 1= g 1111 ¢ J P 22,860 21,248
TOtal ASSEES . ot ottt e $1,480,957 $1.422,511
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ... ... .. $§ 420,368 $ 380,996
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ............... .. ... ...... 182,599 166,926
Accrued federal and state INCOME TAXES . .o v vttt e e e et e 24,968 33,352
Obligations under capital leases due withinoneyear ....................... — 285
Contingent lease obligations due withinoneyear................. ... ...... 22,093 44,068
Total current liabilities . ............c. o, 650,028 625,627
Obligations under capital leases, less portion due withinoneyear................. — 1,558
Contingent lease obligations, less portion due withinone year ................... 18,727 62,142
Other noncurrent iabilities ... ... o i 58,000 46,617
Deferred INCOmME taXeS . . .ot v ittt et et 13,399 —
Commitments and CONLINGENCIES . ... oottt ettt et et — —
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01, authorized 20,000,000 shares, no shares issued .. .. .. — —
Common stock, par value $.01, authorized 180,000,000 shares, issued
T4A410,100 Shares . ..o e 744 744
Additional paid-in capital . ........ .. ... . 62,218 68,574
Retained €arnings . .. .. ..ottt ottt it e e e 861,692 730,851
Treasury stock, at cost, 5,125,517 and 2,816,753 shares ........................ (183,851)  (113,602)
Total stockholders’ equity . ........ .. ... i 740,803 686,567
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ................... .. ... .... $1,480,957 $1,422,511

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

24




BJ’S WHOLESALE CLUB, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February 3,
2003 2002 2001
(53 weeks)
(Dollars in Thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NEINCOME . vttt et ettt e e e e e e e e $ 130,866 3 82,348 $131,501
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities;
(Gain) loss on contingent lease obligations ...................... (15,607) 106,359 —
Provision for store closing costs and asset impairment losses . ....... 23,234 —_ —
Depreciation and amortization of property ...................... 73,113 61,680 54,953
Lossonproperty disposals ........... ... .. i i, 854 447 654
Othernoncashitems (net) . ... s, 287 130 115
Deferred inCOME taXeS ... ... i ittt e 32,499 (40,015) (2,149)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options ...................... 2,817 17,831 10,705
Increase (decrease) in cash due to changes in:
Accountsreceivable ....... ... . . . (1,475) (6,169) (3,410)
Merchandise Inventories . .. .....o.iti i i (71,534)  (64,716) (48,514)
Prepaid EXPenses . ... ..t e (1,620) (1,439) (485)
O her a88etS . . .ttt e (1,844) (7,138) (2,804)
Accountspayable ......... ... 30,784 29,112 (8,481)
Accrued EXpenses . .. ...t e 9,829 12,781 9,222
Accrued INCOME tAXES ...t ot ei e i e i i i i e (8,384) 1,545 11,001
Contingent lease obligations ..................ccuvnen... (49,783) (149) —
Other noncurrent liabilities ... ......... ... o, (2,693) 2,164 6,022
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... ... cev. .. 151,343 194,771 158,330
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of marketable securities ........ ... . i — — (5,001)
Sale of marketable securities . ........ ..o e — — 5,001
Property additions . . .. ... (134,826) (166,312) (98,680)
Proceeds from property disposals . . ......... .. ... .. ... oo 144 2 301
Net cash used in investing activities ...............c....oiivieen.... (134,682) (166,310) (98,379)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of capital lease obligations ............................. (197) (225) 202)
Cash dividends paid on preferred stock of subsidiary .................. (25) (25) (25)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ............ ..o i, 3,967 17,243 9,659
Purchase of treasury stock . ......... ... .. i (83,469)  (95,774) (64,346)
Changesinbook overdrafts ......... ... ... ... .. .. ... . .. 8,588 17,086 (2,653)
Net cash used in financing activities ............ ... ... ... ..., (71,136) (61,695) (57,567)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .................. (54,475)  (33,234) 2,384
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof year . ...................... 87,158 120,392 118,008
Cash and cash equivalents atendof year ............................ $ 32683 $ 87,158 §$120,392
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of capitalized interest ......................... $ 301 $ 96) $ 20
Incometaxespaid ....... ... i 55,907 86,655 74,470
Noncash financing and investing activities:
Treasury stock issued for compensationplans .................... 13,219 42,112 30,762

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BJ’S WHOLESALE CLUB, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Additional Total

____Comm@n Stock Paid-in Retained Treasury Stock Stockholders’
Shares  Amoumt Capital Earnings  Shares Amount Equity
(In Thousands)

Balance, January 29,2000 ... .. 74,410 $744 $ 85958 $517,052 (867) $ (26,356) $577,398
Netincome ............. — — —_— 131,501 — — 131,501
Sale and issuance of

common stock ........ — — (10,375) — 1,008 30,762 20,387
Cash dividends on

preferred stock of

subsidiary ............ _— — — 25) — — (25)
Purchase of treasury

stock ... o oL — —_ — —  (2,088) (64,346) (64,346)

Balance, February 3,2001 ... .. 74,410 744 75,583 648,528 (1,947)  (59,940) 664,915
Netincome ............. — — — 82,348 _ — 82,348
Sale and issuance of

common stock ........ — — (7,009) — 1,276 42,112 35,103
Cash dividends on

preferred stock of

subsidiary ............ — — — (25) — — (25)
Purchase of ireasury

stock ................ — — — —  {(2,146) (95,774 (95,774)

Balance, February 2,2002 .. ... 74,410 744 68,574 730,851 (2,817) (113,602) 686,567
Netincome ............. — —_ — 130,866 — — 130,866
Sale and issuance of

common stock ........ — — (6,356) — 340 13,219 6,863
Cash dividends on
preferred stock of
subsidiary ............ — —— — 25 — — (25)
Purchase of treasury
stock ......... ... — — — —  (2,649)  (83,468) (83,468)
Balance, February 1,2003 ... .. 74,410 $744 $62218 $861,692 (5,126) $(183,851) $740,803

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BJ’S WHOLESALE CLUB, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of BI's Wholesale Club, Inc. (the “Company”) include the financial
statements of all of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of whose common stock is wholly owned by the Company.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. The fiscal years ended February 1,
2003 and February 2, 2002 included 52 weeks. The fiscal year ended February 3, 2001 included 53 weeks.

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at time of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Investments with maturities exceeding three months are classified as marketable
securities.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of credit card receivables and vendor rebates and allowances and are
stated net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $814,000 at February 1, 2003 and $116,000 at February 2,
2002. The determination of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the Company’s historical experience
applied to an aging of accounts and a review of individual accounts with a known potential for write-off.

Merchandise Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined under the average cost method, or market. The
Company recognizes the write-down of slow-moving or obsolete inventory in cost of sales when such write-
downs are probable and estimable. The Company recognizes a reserve for inventory shrinkage for the period
between physical inventories based on historical results of previous physical inventories, shrinkage trends or
other judgments management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Property and Equipment

Property is depreciated by use of the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes. Buildings are
depreciated over 33 1/3 years. Leasehold costs and improvements are amortized over the lease term or their
estimated useful life, whichever is shorter. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated over three to ten
years. Interest related to the development of owned facilities is capitalized.

Normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews the realizability of its long-lived assets annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Current and expected operating
results and cash flows and other factors are considered in connection with the Company’s reviews. For purposes
of evaluating the recoverability of long-lived assets, the recoverability test is performed using undiscounted net
cash flows of individual clubs and consolidated net cash flows for long-lived assets not identifiable to individual
clubs. Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
impaired assets.
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The Company recorded pretax asset impairment charges of $1,847,000 in 2002 to write down leasehold
improvements and certain fixtures and equipment to fair value at an underperforming club that was projected to
have future operating losses. The fair value of the assets was based primarily on past experience in disposing of
similar assets. Asset impairment charges are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Self-Insurance Reserves

The Company is primarily self-insured for worker’s compensation and general liability claims. Reported
reserves for these claims are derived from estimated ultimate costs based upon individual claim file reserves and
estimates for incurred but not reported claims.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of merchandise, net of estimated returns, at the time of
purchase by the customer in the club. In instances when the customer is not able to take delivery at the point of
sale, revenue from the sale of merchandise is not recognized until title and risk of loss pass to the customer.
Membership fee revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the membership, which is typically
twelve months.

In determining comparable club information, the Company includes all clubs that were open for at least 13
months at the beginning of the period and were in operation during all of both periods being compared. However,
if a club is in the process of closing, it is excluded from comparable clubs. The Company includes relocated
clubs and expansions in comparable clubs. The Company reports comparable club sales information on a “same-
week basis” whenever it is comparing sales between two fiscal years having 52 weeks in one year and 53 weeks
in another. Sales for the 52 weeks ended February 2, 2002 were compared with sales for the last 52 weeks of the
fiscal year ended February 3, 2001 to have a proper comparison for comparable sales reporting.

Food accounted for 61% of total food and general merchandise sales in 2002 and 2001. Food accounted for
60% of total food and general merchandise sales in 2000,

Vendor Rebates and Allowances

The Company receives various types of cash consideration from vendors, principally in the form of rebates
based on purchasing or selling certain volumes of product; time-based rebates or allowances, which may include
product placement allowances or exclusivity arrangements covering a predetermined period of time; price
protection rebates and allowances for retail reductions on certain merchandise; and salvage allowances for
product that is damaged, defective or becomes out-of-date. The Company recognizes such vendor rebates and
allowances based on a systematic and rational allocation of the cash consideration offered to the underlying
transaction that results in progress by the Company toward earning the rebates and allowances, provided the
amounts to be earned are probable and reasonably estimable. Otherwise, rebates and allowances are recognized
only when predetermined milestones are met. Vendor rebates and allowances are typically realized as a reduction
of cost of sales when the merchandise is sold or otherwise disposed of.

The Company also receives cash consideration from vendors for demonstrating their products in the clubs or
for advertising their products, particularly in the BJ's Journal, a publication sent to BJ’s members several times a
year. Cash consideration for product demonstrations is recognized as a reduction of selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in the period during which the demonstrations are performed. Cash
consideration for advertising vendors’ products is recognized as a reduction of SG&A expenses in the period in
which the advertising takes place. In both cases, cash consideration represents a reimbursement of specific,
incremental and identifiable SG&A costs incurred by the Company to sell the vendors’ products.

Preopening Costs

Preopening costs consist of direct incremental costs of opening or relocating a facility and are charged to
operations as incurred.

28




Advertising Costs

Advertising costs generally consist of promoting new memberships and new store openings and also include
television and radio advertising (some of which is vendor-funded) during the holiday season. The Company
expenses advertising costs as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

At February 1, 2003, the Company had three stock-based employee compensation plans, which are
described more fully in Note G. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement
principles of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. No
stock-based employee compensation cost for stock options is reflected in net income, as all options granted under
those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of the
grant. The Company does include stock-based employee compensation cost for restricted stock in net income.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the
fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation.

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February3,
2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in Thousands except
Per Share Amounts)

Netincome, as reported ... ovviiirnnrirreeeennnnn., $130,866  $82,348  $131,501
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net income, net of related tax effects .............. 50 18 14

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of

related tax eFfectS .. ..... ..o (8,777 (1730)  (5,354)
Pro forma net income . ............ovviiurrennnrneennnn.. $122,139  $74,636  $126,161
Eamingspershare: ........ .. ... .. i

Basic—asreported .......... .. . $ 18 $ 114 §$ 180

Basic—proforma .. .........ouriiie . $ 174 $ 103 $ 173

Diluted—as reported . . ..., $ 184 $ 111 $ 177

Diluted—proforma ............ ... .. i i $ 173 $ 101 §$ 170

Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value because of the short maturity of
these instruments.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued the following standards which became
effective in the fourth quarter of 2002 or will become effective in 2003:

=  Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement
of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the
Company recognize future costs for asset retirements to be incurred primarily in connection with
removal of gasoline tanks from its gasoline stations. The Company will recognize a liability for existing
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asset retirement obligations, adjusted for cumulative accretion, and an asset retirement cost capitalized
as an increase to the carrying amount of associated long-lived assets, adjusted for accumulated
depreciation, upon initial application of SFAS No. 143. As of the beginning of fiscal 2003, the Company
will recognize the cumulative effect of applying this statement as a change in accounting principle,
which the Company expects will result in a post-tax charge of approximately $1.0 to $1.4 million. The

Company estimates that the post-tax charge for the ongoing impact of SFAS No. 143 for the full 2003
fiscal year will be approximately $0.6 to $0.8 million.

SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” addresses financial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with such activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity.” SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit
or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an
exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of SFAS
No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. In accordance with
the transition provisions of SFAS No. 146, the Company will continue to apply the provisions of EITF
Issue 94-3 for the three clubs it closed in November 2002.

SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,” amends
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of
transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. SFAS No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require
prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. This
standard becomes effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002 and
for financial reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002. As noted above, the Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the
principles of APB 25. The disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 have been applied in this report on
Form 10-K and will be applied in interim periods beginning with the Company’s first quarter of fiscal
2003.

FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a
guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements under certain guarantees that it has issued. It
also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the
fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and initial
measurement provisions of this Interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued
or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements in this Interpretation are effective for
financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The disclosure
provisions of this Interpretation have been applied in this report on Form 10-K and will be applied in
interim periods beginning with the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003.

FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” addresses consolidation by
business enterprises of variable interest entities, which have one or both of the following characteristics:

1) The equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties, which is provided through other
interests that will absorb some or all of the expected losses of the entity.

2) The equity investors lack one or more of certain essential characteristics of a controlling financial
interest as stated in this Interpretation.

This Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and
to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the
first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 to variable interest entities in which an
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enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company believes that
the adoption of this Interpretation will result in no material change from its existing reporting.

Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain
Consideration Received by a Vendor,” (“EITF 02-16”) addresses how a reseller should account for cash
consideration received from a vendor. The first issue of EITF 02-16 became effective for arrangements entered
into or modified after December 31, 2002. Under this issue, there is a presumption that cash consideration
received by a customer from a vendor should be characterized as a reduction of cost of sales. That presumption is
overcome when the consideration is a reimbursement of costs incurred by the customer to sell the vendor’s
products, in which case the cash consideration should be characterized as a reduction of that cost. If the amount
of cash consideration exceeds the cost being reimbursed, that excess amount should be characterized as a
reduction of cost of sales. Beginning in fiscal 2003, the Company will classify any cash consideration in excess
of expenses being reimbursed, should such an excess occur, as a reduction of cost of sales.

The second issue of EITF 02-16, which became effective for arrangements entered into after November 21,
2002, addresses the recognition and classification of cash consideration that is payable pursuant to a binding
arrangement only if the customer completes a specified cumulative level of purchases or remains a customer for
a specified period of time. The adoption of this issue resulted in no change from the Company’s existing
accounting.

Estimates Included in Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Other

Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes.

A, Spin-off of the Company from Waban Inc. and Related Party Transactions

The Company, which previously had been a wholly owned subsidiary of Waban Inc. (“Waban™), became a
separate and independent public entity on July 28, 1997, when Waban distributed to its stockholders on a pro rata
basis all of the Company’s outstanding common stock (the “spin-off”).

Pursuant to the spin-off, the Company and Waban entered into a Tax Sharing Agreement to provide for the
payment of taxes and the entitlement to tax refunds for periods prior to the spin-off date. Each party has agreed to
indemnify the other in specified circumstances if certain events occurring after July 28, 1997 cause the spin-off
or certain related transactions to become taxable.

After the spin-off, the Company provided certain services to Waban (which has since changed its name to
House2Home, Inc. (formerly HomeBase, Inc.)) at rates negotiated in accordance with a Services Agreement
entered into between the Company and House2Home. The amounts received by the Company for these services
were not material.

B. Losson Contingent Lease Obligations

In connection with the spin-off of Waban by The TIX Companies, Inc. (“TJX”) in 1989, Waban and TJIX
entered into an agreement pursuant to which Waban agreed to indemnify TJX against any liabilities that TIX
might incur with respect to 41 House2Home leases as to which TJX was either a lessee or guarantor. Pursuant to
a subsequent agreement, BJ’s agreed to indemnify TIX for 100% of House2Home’s lease liabilities through
January 31, 2003 and for 50% of any such liabilities thereafter.
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House2Home filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on November 7,
2001. In the third quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a pretax charge of $105.0 million for its estimated loss
associated with House2Home leases. This loss was based on the present value of rent liabilities under these
leases, including estimated real estate taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by estimated income
from the subleasing of these properties. An annual discount rate of 6% was used to calculate the present value of
these lease obligations.

Based on the Company’s continuing evaluation of its remaining obligations and the significant progress
made in settling liabilities for House2Home leases, the Company recorded a $20.0 million pretax gain in the third
quarter of 2002 to reduce its estimated liability related to its contingent lease obligations.

The following is a summary of activity relating to the Company’s obligations for House2Home leases:

Fiscal Year Ended

February 1, February 2,
2003 2802

(Dollars in Theusands)
Contingent lease obligations, beginning of year $106,210 § —
Provision for increase (decrease) to reserve (20,000) 105,000
Interest accretion charges 4,393 1,359
Cash paymernts (49,783) (149)

Contingent lease obligations, end of year $ 40,820 $106,210

The cash payments referenced above included lump-sum settlements for 23 leases in 2002. Four additional
House2Home properties (for which BI’s remains contingently liable) have been assigned to third parties. As of
February 1, 2003, the Company has reserved a total of $40,820,000 associated with its obligations for the
remaining HouseZHome leases. The Company believes that the liabilities recorded in the financial statements
adequately provide for these lease obligations. However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s actual
liability for its House2Home-related obligations will not differ materially from amounts recorded in the financial
statements due to a number of factors, including future economic factors which may affect the ability to
successfully sublease, assign or otherwise settle liabilities related to the House2Home properties. The Company
considers its maximum reasonably possible undiscounted pretax exposure for its House2Home lease obligations
to be approximately $67 million at February 1, 2003.

C. Discontinued Operations

On October 10, 2002, the Company announced that it would close both of its clubs in the Columbus, Ghio,
market and an oldzr non-prototypical club in North Dade, Florida. Each of these clubs closed for business on
November 9, 2002. The operating results of these clubs are presented in discontinued operations in the statements of
income for all periods presented. Loss from discontinued operations in 2002 consisted of pretax club closing costs
of $21,387,000 ($12,832,000 post-tax) and pretax operating losses of $3,405,000 ($2,111,000 post-tax). Loss from
discontinued operations in 2001 and 2000 represents the operating losses of the three closed clubs. Total revenues of
these closed clubs were $42.1 million in 2002, $56.4 million in 2001 and $63.0 million in 2000.

The pretax loss of $21,387,000 in 2602 to close the three clubs consisted mainly of lease obligation costs of
$18,322,000, including accretion charges of $177,000. The remainder of the club closing costs consisted of
$2,498,000 for the write-down of long-lived assets, $419,000 for employee termination benefits and $148,000 for
other exit costs. The charges for lease obligations were based on the present value of rent liabilities under the
three leases, including estimated real estate taxes and common area maintenance charges, reduced by estimated
income from the subleasing of these properties. An annual discount rate of 6% was used to calculate the present
value of the obligations. As of February 1, 2003, the Company has reserved a total of $17,515,000 associated
with its liabilities for the closed club leases, $13,651,000 of which is included in other noncurrent liabilities, with
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the remainder included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the balance sheet. The Company
believes that the liabilities recorded in the financial statements adequately provide for these lease obligations.
However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s actual liability for its closed club obligations will not
differ materially from amounts recorded in the financial statements due to a number of factors, including future
economic factors which may affect the ability to successfully sublease, assign or otherwise settle liabilities
related to these properties. The Company considers its maximum reasonably possible undiscounted pretax
exposure for its closed club lease obligations to be approximately $51 million at February 1, 2003.

D. Debt

On June 12, 2002, the Company entered into a new $200 million unsecured credit agreement with a group
of banks which expires June 13, 2005. The agreement includes a $50 million sub-facility for letters of credit, of
which $2.3 million was outstanding at February 1, 2003. The Company is required to pay an annual facility fee
which is currently 0.125% of the total commitment. Interest on borrowings is payable at the Company’s option
either at (a) the Eurodollar rate plus a margin which is currently 0.45% or (b) a rate equal to the higher of the sum
of the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.50% or the agent bank’s prime rate. The Company is also required to
pay a usage fee in any calendar quarter during which the average daily amount of loans and undrawn or
unreimbursed letters of credit outstanding exceeds 33% of the total commitment. The usage fee, if applicable,
would currently be at an annual rate of 0.05% of the average daily amount of credit used under the facility during
the calendar quarter. The facility fee, Eurodollar margin and usage fee are subject to change based upon the
Company’s fixed charge coverage ratio. The agreement contains covenants which, among other things, include
minimum net worth and fixed charge coverage requirements and a maximum funded debt-to-capital limitation.
The Company is required to comply with these covenants on a quarterly basis. Under the credit agreement, the
Company may pay dividends or repurchase its own stock in any amount so long as the Company remains in
compliance with all other covenants. On August 13, 2002, the agreement was amended to change the minimum
net worth requirement, thereby providing the Company additional capacity to repurchase its common stock. The
Company was in compliance with the covenants and other requirements set forth in its credit agreement at
February 1, 2003 and for all fiscal periods throughout the year.

In addition to the credit agreement, the Company maintains a separate $50 million facility for letters of
credit, primarily to support the purchase of inventories, of which $19.2 million was outstanding at February 1,
2003, and also maintains a $25 miilion uncommitted credit line for short-term borrowings.

There were no bank borrowings outstanding at February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002.

E. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is obligated under long-term leases for the rental of real estate and equipment. In addition, the
Company is generally required to pay insurance, real estate taxes and other operating expenses and, in some
cases, additional rentals based on a percentage of sales or other factors. Some of the Company’s leases require
escalating payments during the lease term. Rent expense for such leases is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The real estate leases range up to 45 years and have varying renewal options. The equipment
leases range up to 5 years. Future minimum lease payments as of February 1, 2003 were:

Dollars in
Fiscal Vears Ending _Thousands
January 31, 2004 ... .. $ 101,001
January 29, 2005 . .. e e 102,787
January 28, 20006 .. ... e 101,621
February 3, 2007 .. ..o 98,934
February 2, 2008 .. ... 95,905
LLateT YRAIS . ottt ettt e e e 1,046,515
Total minimum lease payments . ......... .. ... . $1,546,763




Total minimum operating lease payments above have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of
$1,639,000 due in all future years under noncancelable subleases of BJ’s properties. The payments above do not
include future payments due under leases for three BI’s clubs which were closed in November 2002. Rent
liabilities for the closed clubs are included in the balance sheet (See Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.)

Rental expense under operating leases (including contingent rentals, which were not material) amounted to
$89,183,000, $76,895,000 and $68,906,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings that are typical of a retail business. Although it is not
possible to predict the outcome of these proceedings or any related claims, the Company believes that such
proceedings or claims will not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition or results of operations.

The Company has filed proofs of claim against House2Home, Inc. for claims arising under certain
agreements between BJ’s and House2Home in connection with the Company’s spin-off from Waban Inc. in July
1997. These claims arise primarily from BJ’s indemnification of TJX with respect to TIX’s guarantee of
House2Home leases and from the Tax Sharing Agreement dated July 28, 1997 between BI’s and House2Home.
BI’s has filed proofs of claim totaling approximately $70 million. BJ’s intends to amend its claims as it makes
future payments for House2Home leases. House2Home has indicated that it intends to contest at least a portion
of BJ’s claims, The Company is unable to determine the amount, if any, of future recoveries under the claims
and, therefore, has not recognized such claims in its financial statements. In early December 2002, the Official
Committee of Creditors of House2Home, Inc. filed an objection in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Central
District of California, Santa Ana Division, to House2Home’s mation to approve the Disclosure Statement in
connection with its bankruptcy proceeding. In that objection, the creditors’ committee stated that discussions.are
taking place between the committee and House2Home regarding the investigation of potential claims that may
exist against certain entities related to House2Home, including BJ's. On April 11, 2003, House2Home filed its
Second Amended Plan of Liquidation and a related Disclosure Statement. In these documents, House2Home
indicated that unless it was successful in settling BJ’s claims informally, it was likely to object to both BJ’s lease
indemnification claims and BJ’s claims under the Tax Sharing Agreement.

Pursuant to an agreement with TJX, BI's agreed to indemnify TJX for 100% of House2Home’s lease
liabilities through January 31, 2003 and for 50% of any such liabilities thereafter. See Note B of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

As permitted by Delaware law, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements whereby it
indemnifies its directors and officers for certain events or occurrences while the director or officer is, or was,
serving at the Company’s request, in such capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the
Company could be required to make under these agreements is not limited. However, the Company does carry
directors’ and officers’ insurance that covers its exposure up to certain limits. As a result of its insurance
coverage, the Company believes that the estimated fair value of the Company’s indemnification agreements with
directors and officers is minimal. No liabilities have been recorded for these agreements as of February 1, 2003.

In 2002, the Company began to offer an extended warranty on tires sold at its clubs, under which BJ’s
customers receive tire repair services or tire replacement in certain circumstances. BJ’s has insured this liability
through a third party and, therefore, retains no liability in connection with the tire warranty program other than
for the premiums paid to the third-party carrier.

F. Capital Stock

During 2002, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional $100 million of the
Company’s common stock in addition to the $300 million previously authorized. In 2002, the Company
repurchased 2,648,700 shares of common stock for $83,469,000, or an average price of $31.51 per share. The
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Company repurchased 2,145,700 shares for $95,774,000 in 2001 and 2,088,200 shares for $64,346,000 in 2000.
As of February 1, 2003, the Company’s remaining repurchase authorization was $90,457,000.

The Company has a shareholder rights plan, originally adopted in 1997 and amended in 1999, pursuant to
which shareholders are issued one-half of a Right for each share of common stock. Each Right entitles the holder
to purchase from the Company 1/1000 share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (“Series A
Preferred Stock™) at a price of $120. The Company has designated 100,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for
issuance under the shareholder rights plan; none has been issued to date. Generally, the terms of the Series A
Preferred Stock are designed so that 1/1000 share of Series A Preferred Stock is the economic equivalent of one
share of the Company’s common stock. The Rights are exercisable only if a person acquires 20% or more of the
Company’s common stock or commences a tender offer that would result in such person owning 30% or more of
the Company’s commaon stock. In addition, in general, if after a person has become a 20% owner, the Company
is involved in a business combination transaction in which it is not the surviving corporation or in connection
with which the Company’s common stock is changed, or the Company disposes of 50% or more of its assets or
earning power, each Right that has not previously been exercised or voided will entitle its holder to purchase that
number of shares of common stock of such other person which equals $120 divided by one-half of the then
current market price of such common stock. The Company will generally be entitled to redeem the Rights at $.01
per Right at any time until the tenth business day following public announcement that a person has become a
20% owner. The Rights expire on July 10, 2007, unless earlier redeemed or exchanged.

The Company has authorized 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value, of which no shares have
been issued.

In December 1997, one of the Company’s subsidiaries issued 126 shares of non-voting preferred stock to
individual stockholders at $2,200 per share, These shares are each entitled to receive ongoing annual dividends of
$200 per share. The minority interest in this subsidiary is equal to the preferred shares’ preference in an
involuntary liquidation of $277,200 and is included in other noncurrent liabilities in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets at February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002.

G. Stock Incentive Plams

Under its 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company has granted certain key employees options to purchase
common stock at prices equal to 100% of market price on the grant date. These options, which expire ten years
from the grant date, are generally exercisable 25% per year starting one year after the grant date. At the
Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders in May 2002, an amendment to increase the maximum number of
shares issuable under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan by 2,000,000 shares was approved. The maximum number of
shares of common stock issuable under this plan is now 7,249,402 shares, plus shares subject to awards granted
under the BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc. 1997 Replacement Stock Incentive Plan (the “Replacement Plan”) which are
not actually issued because such awards expire or are canceled. Under the Replacement Plan, BJ’s employees
who held Waban stock options and restricted stock were granted replacement BJ’s options and restricted stock,
which preserved the same inherent value, vesting terms and expiration dates as the Waban awards they replaced
in connection with the spin-off. No new options could be granted under the Replacement Plan after January 28,
1998.

Under its 1997 Director Stock Option Plan, BJ’s external directors are granted options to purchase common
stock at prices equal to 100% of market price on the grant date. These options expire ten years from the grant
date and are exercisable in three equal annual installments beginning on the first day of the month which includes
the first anniversary of the date of grant. A maximum of 300,000 shares may be issued under the 1997 Director
Stock Incentive Plan.

As of February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002, respectively, 1,363,550 and 633,570 shares were reserved for
future stock awards under the Company’s stock incentive plans.

35




The Company applies APB 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation.
Total pretax compensation cost recognized in the statements of income for stock-based employee compensation
awards was $80,060 in 2002, $29,000 in 2001 and $23,000 in 2000, and consisted entirely of restricted stock
expense, which is charged to income ratably over the periods during which the restrictions lapse. 5,500 shares of
restricted stock were issued during 2002 at a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $36.19 and 2,000 shares
of restricted stock were issued during 2000 at a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $37.06. No restricted
stock was issued in 2001. No compensation cost has been recognized under APB 25 for the Company’s stock

options because the exercise price equaled the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant.

The table that follows illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied
the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation, including stock options. The fair value for
stock options was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 3.03%, 4.00% and 6.12% in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively; volatility factor of the expected market price of the Company’s common stock of .43 in 2002, .40 in
2001 and .42 in 2000; and expected life of the options of 5 years in 2002, 2001 and 2000. No dividends were
expected. The weighted-average fair value of options granted was $9.69 in 2002, $18.75 in 2001 and $16.21 in
2000. For purposes of pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options’ vesting period.

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February3,

2003 2002 2001
(Doliars in Thousands except Per Share
Amounts)

Netincome, asreported . .............ooiuiiriinnenninnn. $130,866  $82,348  $131,501
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in

reported net income, net of related tax effects .............. 50 18 14
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of

related tax effects .......... ... i (8,777) (7,730) (5,354)
Proformanetincome ....... ... it $122,139  $74,636 $126,161
Earnings per share:

Basic—asreported ........ ... . ... $ 18 $ 114 $ 180

Basic—proforma .......... ... i $ 174 $ 103 $ 173

Diluted—as reported . . ...t $ 184 $ 111 $ 1.77

Diluted—proforma ..............ouiiiiiiiiiiin.. $ 173 0§ 1.01 $ 1.70

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require
the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s
employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock
options.
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Presented below is a summary of the status of stock option activity and weighted-average exercise prices for
the last three fiscal years (number of options in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended

February 1, 2003

February 2, 2002

February 3, 2001

Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Cptions Price QOptions Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ............ 4,860 $26.08 5421 $20.47 5,143 $1445
Granted ........ ... ... i 1,378 23.24 758 4533 1,361 35.21
Exercised .......... ... ... ... .. (334) 11.86 (1,276) 13.51 (1,006) 9.60
Forfeited .......... ... .. .. ... .. ... (113)  35.95 43) 3082 (77) 2148
Outstanding, end of year ................. 5,791 26.03 4,860 26.08 5,421 2047
Exercisable,endofyear .................. 3,284 2245 2,609 1772 2,757 12.69

Additional information related to stock options outstanding at February 1, 2003 is presented below (number

of options in thousands):

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Weighted-

Average Remaining Average
Number Exercise  Contractual Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Price Life (yrs.)  Exercisable Price
$ 55385945 ... ... ... .. ... 484 $ 891 3.2 484 $ 8.91
$1022-815.06 ....... ... 687 13.85 43 687 13.85
$17.08-82794 ... ... ... .......... 2,216 21.29 8.0 842 18.59
$29075-84133 ... ... 1,673 33.86 7.3 1,088 33.03
$44.12-%347.60 ... 731 45.33 8.6 183 45.37
$553-84760 .................... 5,791 26.03 7.0 3,284 22.45

H. Earnings Per Share

The following details the calculation of earnings per share for the last three fiscal years:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February 2, February 3,
2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Amounts)

Income from continuing operations .................. $ 145809 $§ 83,771 § 132,598
Less: Preferred stock dividends ..................... 25 25 25
Income available to common stockholders . ............ $ 145784 §% 83,746 $ 132,573
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding,

used for basic computation . ...................... 70,321,078 72,519,032 72,870,668
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversion of

StOCK OpHioNS . ... ii e 799,628 1,462,116 1,509,876
Weighted-average number of common and dilutive

potential common shares outstanding ............... 71,120,706 73,981,148 74,380,544
Basic camnings pershare ............. ... .. ... $ 207 § 1.16 § 1.82
Diluted earnings pershare . ........... ... .. ..., $ 2.05 113§ 1.78

Options to purchase 1,610,650 shares at a weighted-average exercise price of $40.82 and 942,800 shares at

an exercise price of $37.06 were outstanding at February 1, 2003 and February 3, 2001, respectively, but were
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not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise price was greater than
the average market price of the common shares for the years then ended. All outstanding options were included
in the computation of diluted earnings per share in the fiscal year ended February 2, 2002.

I. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes includes the following:

Fiscal Year Ended

February 1, Februwary2, February 3,
2003 2002 2001

(Dollars in Thousands)

Federal:
Current $40,340 $ 77,063 $73,526
Deferred 27,965 (32,478) (1,094)
State:
Current 11,137 10,945
Deferred (7,537) (1,055)

Total income tax provision $ 48,185  $82,322

Components of income tax provision:
Continuing operations $89,871 $ 49,068  $83,009
Discontinued operations (9,849) (883) (687)

$80,022  $ 48,185  $82,322

The following is a reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rates and the effective income tax rates:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February3,
2003 2002 2001
Statutory federal income taxrates ......................... 35% 35% 35%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit . ................ _3 2 4
Effective inCOME tAX TAES .. .o\t vttt ii i ee e ﬁ% §z % 39%

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of February 1, 2003 and
February 2, 2002 were as follows:

February I, February 2,

2003 2002
(Dotlars in Thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Contingent lease obligations .. ..........coiiiieriiiiiiinneeannn.. $16,328 $42.484
Self-INSUTANCE TESEIVES . . v v vttt ettt et e e e e et e e 13,666 14,046
Rental step liabilities . .. ... ... i 5,221 5,104
Compensation and benefits . ............ ... ... i 6,198 6,556
Closed store liabilities . . ... ..o i e e 7,006 —
Other o 8,888 7,411
Total deferred tax assets . ...t ittt i i 57,307 75,601
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation—property ... ........c.ooveiiiiiineenn... 43,551 30,840
Real e51ate 1aKES . . vttt e 2,866 2,391
Other . .o 3,592 2,573
Total deferred tax liabilities ........... .. ... .. ciiiin... 50,009 35,804
Net deferred tax assets . ... vt e $ 7,298 $39,797




The Company has not established a valuation allowance because its deferred tax assets can be realized by
offsetting deferred tax liabilities and future taxable income, which management believes will more likely than not
be earned, based on the Company’s historical earnings record and projected future earnings.

J. Retirement Plans

Under the Company’s 401(k) Savings plans, participating employees may make pretax contributions up to
50% of covered compensation, beginning in 2002. Before 2002, the limit was 15% of covered compensation. The
Company matches employee contributions at 100% of the first one percent of covered compensation and 50% of
the next four percent. The Company’s expense under these plans was $3,528,000, $3,245,000 and $3,166,000 in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has a non-contributory defined contribution retirement plan for certain key employees. Under
this plan, the Company funds annual retirement contributions for the designated participants on an after-tax basis.
For the last three years, the Company’s contributions equaled 5% of the participants’ base salary. Participants
become fully vested in their contribution accounts at the end of the fiscal year in which they complete four years
of service. The Company’s pretax expense under this plan was $1,119,000, $991,000 and $990,000 in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

K. Postretirement Medical Benefits

The Company has a defined benefit postretirement medical plan which covers employees and their spouses
who retire after age 55 with at least 10 years of service, who are not eligible for Medicare, and who participated
in a Company-sponsored medical plan. Amounts contributed by retired employees under this plan are based on
years of service prior to retirement. The plan is not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost included the following components:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February3,
2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in Thousands)

SEIVICE COSE « vttt et e e e $ 307 $225 $ 185
Interest CoSt . ... . e e 134 91 67
Amortization of unrecognized (gain) loss ................... 21 — (6)
Net periodic postretirement benefitcost . .................... $ 462 $316 $ 246
Discount rate used to determine cost . ............ ..., 6.75% 7.00% 7.75%

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Company’s postretirement medical plan and the
amount recognized in the balance sheets at February 1, 2003 and February 2, 2002:

February 1, February 2,

2603 2002
(Dollars in Thousands)

Unfunded accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) .......... $2,537 $1,955
Unrecognized netloss .. ... i (490) (369)
Accrued postretirement benefit cost included in balance sheets ............ $2,047 $1,586
Discountrate used tovalue APBO . ... ... ... . . . 6.25% 6.75%
Weighted-average health care cost trend rate for valuing year-end obligations:

Initial trend rate . ... ... . e e 11.00% 11.00%

Ultimate trend rate . ... ...ttt 5.00% 5.00%

Year ultimate trend rate to be attained . .............. .. ... .. ... 2008 2008



The following tables present reconciliations of the APBO and plan assets for the fiscal years ended February
1, 2003 and February 2, 2002:

Fiscal Year Ended
February I, February 2,
2003 2002
(Doltars in Thousands)
Reconciliation of APBO:
APBO atbeginningof year ........... ... $1,955 $1,309
S IVICE OBt . o ittt it e e e e 307 225
IETESt COSE & o vttt e ettt et e e e e 134 91
Contributions by plan participants .....................veienan... 10 9
Actuarial 1088es . .. e 142 333
Benefitspaid . ...... ... e (11) 12)
APBOatendofyear ...........c.covvvvnunn.... e $2,537 $1,955
Reconciliation of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginningof year . .. .................... $ — $ —
Employer contributions . . .. ... i 1 3
Contributions by plan participants ........... ... ... .. oo 10 9
Benefitspaid ....... ... i (11) (12)
Fair value of plan assets atendof year ...................covvenn.. $ — $ —

The following table sets forth the impact of changes in the assumed health care cost trend rates for the fiscal
year ended February 1, 2003:

Dollars in
Thousands
Impact of 1% increase in health care cost trend on:
Aggregate of service and interest CoSts ........ ... .. i i $ 49
APBOatendof year .. ..... ... . i 261
Impact of 1% decrease in health care cost trend on:
Aggregate of service and interest COStS . ... .. it $ 45
APBO atend of Year . .......c.iiiiin i e 241)
L. Emterest
The following details the components of interest income, net for the last three fiscal years:
Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February 3,
2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in Thousands)
Interest iNCOMIE . . . v v vttt et et et e $ 663 $3,945 $6,028
Capitalized interest ............ .. i, 581 509 454
Interestexpenseondebt .......... ... ... . i il 951) 317) (302)
INterest iNCOME, NEE .« . v v ot et et et et e e $ 293 $4,137 $6,180

The table above excludes interest expense in discontinued operations of $137,000 in 2002, $203,000 in 2001
and $225,000 in 2000.
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M. Accounts Payable

The Company’s banking arrangements provide for the daily replenishment of vendor payable bank accounts
as checks are presented. The balances of checks outstanding in these bank accounts totaling $80,592,000 at
February 1, 2003 and $72,004,000 at February 2, 2002, which represent book overdrafts, are included in accounts
payable on the balance sheets, and the changes in these balances are reflected in financing activities in the
statements of cash flows.

N. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

The major components of accrued expenses and other current liabilities are as follows:

February 1, February 2,

2003 2002
(Dollars in Thousands)
Employee COMpensation . .. .......u.nunr ottt $ 25,658 § 28,342
Deferred membership feeincome . ........... . ... . i il 56,251 54,973
Sales and use taxes, self-insurance reserves, rent, utilities, advertising and
0114 (= o O 100,690 83,611

$182,599 $166,926

The following table summarizes membership fee activity for each of the last three fiscal years:

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, February2, February3,
2003 2002 2001
(Dollars in Thousands)

Deferred membership fee income, beginning of year .......... $ 54973 $ 47,368 $ 40,632
Cashreceived frommembers ..., 119,594 114,283 98,048
Revenue recognized inearnings .. ......... ..., (118,316) (106,678) (91,312)
Deferred membership fee income, end of year ............... $ 56,251 $ 54,973 $ 47,368
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0. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Amounts)

Fiscal year ended February 1, 2003:
Net sales (a) $1,246,369 $1,439,947 $1,361,445 $1,681,194
Total revenues (a) 1,277,711 1,472,236 1,394,714 1,715,041
Gross earnings (a)(b) 133,215 161,254 142,671 191,561
Net income 23,054 35,899 23,423(d) 48,490
Per common share, diluted 0.32 0.50 0.33(d) 0.70

Fiscal year ended February 2, 2002:
Net sales (a) $1,121,134 $1,263,573 $1,225,315 $1,495,890
Total revenues (a) 1,148,603 1,291,870 1,255,454 1,527,379
Gross earnings (a)(b) 120,375 144,464 137,188 189,162
Net income (loss) 22,963 36,497 (33,464)(c) 56,352
Per common share, diluted 0.31 0.49 (0.46)(c) 0.77

(a) The Company closed three clubs on November 9, 2002. Beginning with the fourth quarter of the fiscal year
ended February 1, 2003, the results of operations and the costs of closing the three clubs were reported in
discontinued operations. All prior periods were recast to report the results of the closed clubs in
discontinued operations. Consequently, net sales, total revenues and gross earnings for all periods preceding
the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003 in the table above are different from results
previously reported on Forms 10-Q and 10-K. Differences are due solely to the inclusion of the closed
clubs’ results in discontinued operations. Amounts previously reported were as follows:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Amounts)

Fiscal year ended February 1, 2003:

Netsales ......ooiinin e, $1,260,108 $1,453,483 $1,375,065 N/A
Totalrevenues ............c..coiiiiiiiian... 1,291,805 1,486,009 1,408,601 N/A
Gross €aImiNgs . . oo v tveeeie e ein e 133,649 161,591 142,534 N/A
Netincome .........coiuiiieieinnneunnenn.. 23,054 35,899 23,423 N/A
Per common share, diluted ..................... 0.32 0.50 0.33 N/A
Fiscal year ended February 2, 2002:
Netsales . ...ooviini it e $1,134,172  $1,277,176 $1,238,414 $1,511,402
Total TeVENUES . ... ..o v e e 1,162,033 1,305,710 1,268,851 1,543,136
GIoSS €arnings . ... .vvvin e 120,872 144,868 137,602 189,959
Net income (10SS) .. ..vvviii e 22,963 36,497 (33,464) 56,352
Per common share, diluted ..................... 0.31 0.49 (0.46) 0.77

(b) Gross earnings equals total revenues less cost of sales, including buying and occupancy costs.

(c) The third quarter of the fiscal year ended February 2, 2002 included a net loss on contingent lease
obligations of $63.0 million, or $0.87 per diluted share.

(d) The third quarter of the fiscal year ended February 1, 2003 included a net loss for the closing costs of the
three clubs noted in (a) above of $12.6 million, or $0.18 per diluted share, offset by a net gain from the
reduction of contingent lease obligations of $12.0 million, or $0.17 per diluted share.

42




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc. and its subsidiaries at February 1, 2003 and
February 2, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended February 1, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

N S

Boston, Massachusetts
March 3, 2003

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The financial statements and related financial information in this annual report have been prepared by and
are the responsibility of management. The financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and necessarily include amounts which are based
upon judgments and estimates made by management.

The Company maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide, at appropriate cost, reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization
and the accounting records may be relied upon for the preparation of financial statements. The accounting and
control systems are continually reviewed by management and modified as necessary in response to changing
business conditions and the recommendations of the Company’s internal auditors and independent public
accountants.

The Audit Committee, comprised of members of the Board of Directors who are neither officers nor
employees, meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the independent public accountants to
review matters relating to the Company’s financial reporting, the adequacy of internal accounting control and the
scope and results of audit work. The internal auditors and the independent public accountants have free access to
the Committee.

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, whose opinion as to their fair
presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America appears
above.

Michael T. Wedge Frank D. Forward
President and Executive Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

March 3, 2003
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

PART I

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Company will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) a definitive Proxy Statement
no later than 120 days after the close of its fiscal year ended February 1, 2003 (the “Proxy Statement”). The
information required by this Item and not given in Item 4A, Executive Officers of the Registrant, is incorporated
by reference from the Proxy Statement under “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement. However,
information under “Executive Compensation Committee’s Report on Executive Compensation” in the Proxy
Statement is not so incorporated.

Itemn 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under
“Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under
“Relationship with House2Home; Conflicts of Interest.”

Ttem 14. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s
chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and are operating in an effective manner.

(b) Changes in internal controls. There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in
other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their most recent
evaluation.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules to the Form 10-K have been included only with the copies of
the Form 10-K filed with the SEC. A copy of this Form 10-K, including a list of exhibits, is available free of
charge upon written request to: Investor Relations Department, BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc., One Mercer Road,
Natick, MA 01760. In addition, upon similar request, copies of individual exhibits will be furnished upon
payment of a reasonable fee.
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael T. Wedge, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal
controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and ! have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Dated: April 21, 2003 By: M M/k

Michael T. Wedge
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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I, Frank D. Forward, certify that:
1.
2.

5.

Dated: April 21, 2003 By: /’

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Bi’s Wholesale Club, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal
controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Frank D. Forward
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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are intended to indicate forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ
materially from these statements as a result of various factors discussed in BJ's
annual and quarterly filings with the SEC. A comprehensive discussion of these
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